"’ Amuse Group Holding Limited
) ES :'T'E AS—

’ “ BREEZERERAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RHEFEETMAZ ZERARE)
(Stock code BR{L5E : 8545)

F

2024 ;

Annual Report




CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Amuse
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.

This report will remain on the Stock Exchange’s website
at www.hkexnews.hk, the GEM website at www.hkgem.com,
on the “Latest Company Announcements” page for at least
seven days from the date of its posting. This report will
also be published on the Company’s website at
www.amusegroupholding.com.

ot

&
Ffr |

N
= 1p
& Rt

B
GE

ZHRARA
Be

(B¢

Il

GEMD BB RBRFETHWEMATEEE
SERERBNATDRMBLETHNTE -FER
EEEBRERENSZSELANELTRR X
EXBEEAFZEANTELRERE -
GEMHWESEARKEMBFERRGEMEBES
BERHMERRES -

HRGEM LT ARAHMHENMEEER - £ GEM
EENESTHEAEIBRBEXTEREE
MEZRSNT SR ER - BT EER
HEGEMEENES SRS RBENTS -

BER G REEIBRA 5] R AT KK
HFHABTREE  HHEEME X TTEMTN
TEX (BB - 30 B FE K T BT B A AN
HFE2HHEMB AT MEL L AKEZ T
AT 5| Z A E I IR ASE (AL

AN 2 6 B TS 8RR B 3 T GEM G825 _E T AR
I ([GEM_E AL i T & - & E 12 B B
A EEERER A ([EKLRA]]) B EH
ARFEFE ([BEF]) FRAAHRE 0 EH KA
RS A2 B E L - EEFEIEL — L]
BHEBHE  EAEIRMRIES - A&
FEENEEEZTHYEEETH KRB
RS D - Al EERREMEE - U
SHAHEFEANTRAL LA & EEREG -

K #E A RBER FIT 48 U www. hkexnews. hk
GEM A8 ik www.hkgem.com A [ & 3T 2 ] A~ &
—HRFIZE B RPREFLR - KIRET
# AR 2 8] 2 48 5 www.amusegroupholding.com
AT o



CONTENTS
H 5%

Corporate Information 2

NAEH

Chairman’s Statement 4

IFREHE

Management Discussion and Analysis 5
EREmEIN

Directors and Senior Management Profile 13
EENRSREBAEBEN

Corporate Governance Report 20
TEERRE

Report of the Directors 38 o
BEEemEE l

‘ Independent Auditor’s Report
- BURHBEEE

=

AN

Do o o LR Lo bonae bvoabvoabovebovebonn oo boen Lo b e

' 7440004447004 1020048402004 1010040700044470470747

[ —



Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. To Hoi Pan

Ms. Lee Kwai Fong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chu Wai Tak

Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael (retired on 11 August 2023)
Mr. Wei Qing (retired on 11 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Pui Hang

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice

Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023)
Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (resigned on 3 April 2023)
Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023)

Company Secretary
Mr. To Hoi Pan

Authorised Representatives
Mr. Li Wai Keung
Mr. To Hoi Pan

Compliance Officer
Mr. To Hoi Pan

Audit Committee

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice (Chairlady of Audit Committee)
Mr. Yu Pui Hang

Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023)

Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Yu Pui Hang (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice

Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023)

Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Tung Man (Chairman of Nomination Committee)
(appointed on 27 April 2023)

Mr. Yu Pui Hang

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice

Mr. Cheng Pak Lam
(resigned on 27 April 2023)

2 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024

Exg

HITES

FRBEE (ETERITHAAE)
g 5 &

FHEFLLE

FHITES

REERE
FHHBEER_ZF_=ZF\A+—RHED
REEEMN_Z_=F\AT—HEME)

BYFHITES

FomELE

GEET ez g
EXERENRE_=FOA-_++BHEZMHE)
BERRET(R_ZE_=FNA=HFE)
ALt (R=-FT-_=FNA - +tAHE)

DNEWE
RS

REAR
FRIMSEE
R

BREME
AT 2 A

EREES

ABBRLL: (FEZESFE)
FomELE
BEXRE(R-ZE-=FNA-++tBEZT)
EFAME A (RS ==Fm A = ++HET)

FMWEEE

RDE S (FBIE B TR

ALt

BXEE (R B - ZFMA - +AREM)
WAL (R B =4 A =++ A FHE)

REZES

ENhRE(REZESFE)
(R—BE-_ZFMNA-+tRHEZT)

FomELE

B#% L

AR MRS A
(RZZEZ=FWMA=++HET)



Auditor
Privatco CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Office
Third Floor, Century Yard
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902
Grand Cayman, KY1-1103
Cayman Islands

Head Office and Principal Place
of Business in Hong Kong

Flat B, 33/F, Plaza 88

No. 88 Yeung Uk Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office
Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited

Third Floor, Century Yard

Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Legal Advisers as to Hong Kong Law
David Fong & Co.

Unit A, 12/F, China Overseas Building

139 Hennessy Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Company’s Website

www.amusegroupholding.com

Stock Code
8545

BB

Privatco CPA Limited
HESETAD

H2RRER

Third Floor, Century Yard
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902
Grand Cayman, KY1-1103
Cayman Islands

MMBERBTEETEERME
&t

5= & 88 5%
Plaza 88 331 B =

RDBFEEREER

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Third Floor, Century Yard

Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

EREROBFETIRE

HEBAEELARAT
ab

BB 1697
BERERALIT7E
ERAEERERS
HRERMEBA
BB BT

ST FFE 13998
FEVBINKE 12EAR

ERERBRIT
B4 RTERAF

NGIE N

www.amusegroupholding.com

IR 43 155

8545

—ToMEFE BAREEERRARAT



| fully recognize that the Group is facing tremendous economic
difficulties during this challenging period. The COVID-19
pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on the global
economy, pushing many industries and enterprises into uncharted
difficulties. However, it is a noteworthy achievement that the
Group has managed to maintain stable performance in such a
volatile environment.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to extend our sincerest
greetings to you. Over the past year, we have encountered
unprecedented difficulties. Nevertheless, we remain resolute in
our confidence and belief that unity will enable us to overcome
the current difficulties.

The current economic situation remains severe, but our fighting
spirit is undiminished. On the contrary, we are actively adjusting
our business strategies and exploring new development
opportunities. We are committed to the principle of steady
operation, closely monitoring market dynamics, accurately
grasping development trends, and striving to develop new profit
growth points. Simultaneously, we are constantly optimizing
internal management, enhancing operational efficiency and
reducing costs, thereby laying a solid foundation for the Group’s
sustainable development.

We believe that with the collective efforts of the entire Group,
we can definitely navigate through this difficult period. We will
continue to maintain a prudent and steady course of
development, focus on our core businesses, promote
diversification, and strive to expand new growth areas. | am
confident that by maintaining an agile and flexible development
strategy, we can weather the storm, turn crises into opportunities
in adversity, and continually enhance our competitiveness and
risk resistance.

We are also fully aware that the development of the Group
would not have been possible without the support and assistance
of various stakeholders. | hereby sincerely invite all stakeholders
to join hands in promoting the rapid economic development of
China and Hong Kong. Let us work tirelessly together to achieve
economic prosperity and build a better future!

Finally, I would like to reiterate my heartfelt wishes for your good
health and happiness, and for a bright future in the New Year!
Let us work hard together to build a more prosperous and strong
China and Hong Kong!
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Business Review

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in
design, marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys and related
products, and provision of agency services.

Sales of original design manufacturer (“ODM") toys
The sales of ODM toys has decreased but continues to account
for the largest portion of the sales business segment of the
Group. The Group's two major customers, namely Sentinel Japan
and Wing Co., Ltd., have worked with us for over 13 years and
17 years respectively, representing the primary revenue source of
the sales of ODM toys. During the year ended 31 March 2024
(the "Year"), revenue from sales of ODM toys decreased by
approximately 21.4% to approximately HK$90,316,000 (2023:
approximately HK$114,835,000).

The gross profit margin of the sales of ODM toys has declined by
approximately 6.4%, which was decrease from 7.8% for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (“Prior Year”) to 7.3% for the Year due to
the production costs of our suppliers in China continue to rise
and the cost increase has shifted to the Group.

Distribution of imported toys and related products
The high-end robot figures is continuously top-dollar growth
category in the revenue from distribution of imported toys and
related products in the Year. The revenue from this segment has
slightly decreased by approximately 2.7% to HK$66,802,000
(2023: approximately HK$68,645,000) during the Year.

Sales of own licensed toys and related products
The Group applied the “SENTINEL/ F{E#%R “, “TOPI” and “FLAME
TOYS” brands in developing our own licensed toys and related
products over the years. A series of hot-selling high-end robot
figures were released and delivered in the Year, leading to the
significantly increased in revenue from sales of own licensed toys
and related products during the Year by 20.3%, to approximately
HK$59,072,000 (2023: approximately HK$49,099,000).
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Agency services related to engineering projects

The Group’s new revenue stream from agency services related to
engineering projects commenced on 8 August 2022, which
mainly contributed from providing contraction projects
consultancy service in the areas of (i) engineering consultancy; (i)
management consultancy, (iii) progress monitoring and (iv) quality
assurance. It contributed the revenue of approximately
HK$3,000,000 for the Year (2023: approximately HK$3,384,000).

Financial Analysis

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of
and accepts the products. Revenue is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Revenue decreased by approximately 7.1% to approximately
HK$219,190,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$235,963,000 for the Prior Year. The decrease in revenue was
mainly due to the significant decrease in sales of ODM toys.

Cost of sales

Our Group's cost of sales, incurred from the ODM toys,
distribution of imported toys and related products and own
licensed toys and related products comprising of (i) production
costs of related products; (ii) license fee; (iii) depreciation of
mould and (iv) others.

Cost of sales decreased by approximately 4.7% to approximately
HK$181,352,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$190,227,000 for the Prior Year. The decrease of cost of sales
is in line with the decrease of revenue.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by approximately 17.3% to approximately
HK$37,838,000 for the Year from approximately HK$45,736,000
for the Prior Year. The gross profit margin decreased 10.8% to
approximately 17.3% for the Year from approximately 19.4% for
the Prior Year.
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Other income, net

Other income, net increased significantly by approximately
182.2% to approximately HK$1,837,000 for the Year from
approximately HK$651,000 for the Prior Year.

The increase was mainly due to: (i) a reduction in foreign
exchange losses on foreign currency holdings as the appreciation
of the US dollar slowed during the year; and (ii) an increase in
bank interest income as a result of the general rise in interest
rates.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses comprises (i) advertising; (ii) staff costs which
mainly represents the expenses in salary of staff; (iii) freight,
postage and delivery; (iv) commission expense for our
consignment sales; and (v) other selling and distribution expenses.
Selling expenses decreased by approximately 26.2% from
approximately HK$9,187,000 for the Prior Year to approximately
HK$6,779,000 for the Year, mainly due to the decrease in
marketing expenses in traditional marketing channels during the
Year.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consists of (i) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary and staff benefit
payable to our administrative department including our Directors;
(i) operating lease charges for land and building; (iii) travelling
and entertainment expenses; (iv) audit fee; (v) depreciation
expenses; (vi) legal and professional fee; (vii) insurance expenses
mainly in relation to product liability insurance; and (viii) other
administrative expenses.

Administrative expenses slightly decreased by approximately
5.1% from approximately HK$27,993,000 for the Prior Year to
approximately HK$26,560,000 for the Year.

Finance costs

The finance costs arose from our bank loans and fees for
electronic payment transactions. Finance costs increased by
approximately 57.3% to approximately HK$368,000 for the Year
from approximately HK$234,000 for the Prior Year. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in (i) the mortgage interest; (ii)
interest on lease liabilities.
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses were decreased by approximately 43.9% to
approximately HK$1,044,000 for the Year, as compared to
approximately HK$1,861,000 for the Prior Year.

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 18
May 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group had no definite future
plans for material investments and capital assets.

Significant investments held

(i)

8

30% of Grand Amuse

As at 31 March 2024, the Group is holding an investment
of joint venture which was formed in accordance with the
joint venture agreement entered into between Amuse Luck
and Grand View Protective Products Limited (“Grand
View") (the “Joint Venture Agreement”) pursuant to which
Amuse Luck and Grand View agreed to jointly establish a
joint venture company named Grand Amuse Development
Limited (“Grand Amuse”) in Hong Kong owned as to 30%
by Amuse Luck and 70% by Grand View, which principally
engages in manufacturing and sale of protective products
(including medical face masks, infrared thermometer,
disinfectant spray, protective clothing, etc.) in Hong Kong
and PRC markets.

In accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement, Amuse
Luck and Grand View have invested in aggregate amount
of HK$10 million to Grand Amuse for setting up the
medical face masks production lines in proportion to their
respective shareholdings, in which Amuse Luck contributed
HK$3 million to Grand Amuse and Grand View is
responsible for the costs of medical face masks production
equipment, its installation and the plant renovation which
amount to approximately HK$7 million.
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(i) Acquisition 30% of DongYiQuan

On 25 April 2022, the Group entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with Chu Guigui (## #) and Zhu
Rongzheng (K & ) to purchase 30% of DongYiQuan
Network Technology Co., Ltd., (“"DongYiQuan”). The
Consideration is HK$10,000,000 which was fully settled
and discharged by the allotment and issue of 192,307,692
Consideration Shares that under General Mandate, at the
Issue Price of HK$0.052 per Consideration Share to the
Vendors at Completion.

DongYiQuan is a high-tech enterprise focusing on the
development and application of smart healthcare industry
solutions. It is principally engaged in the provision of smart
health care products and service systems with a vision of
“cloud platform, smart hard ware and smart service”.
DongYiQuan has cumulated solid clienteles including local
government agencies, hospitals, wellness centres, as well as
individual households. It is in line with the Group’s
investment objective by riding on the up side potential of
the smart elderly care service sector and investing in
DongYiQuan.
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(iii) Acquisition 45% of M.I.P.

10

An indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Amuse Development Limited (the “Amuse Development”)
and Ms. Cheng Pui Ling (the “Ms. Cheng”) entered into an
agreement for the sale and purchase of approximately
45.00% of the issued share capital (the “Sale Shares”)
M.I.P. International Limited (the “M.I.P."), pursuant to
which the Ms. Cheng conditionally agreed to sell and the
Amuse Development conditionally agreed to acquire the
Sale Shares (the “M.I.P. Acquisition”) at a consideration of
HK$7,950,000 which paid by the Amuse Development to
the Ms. Cheng by cash. The M.I.P. Acquisition was
completed on 26 October 2022.

The M.I.P. is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability. It is principally engaged in the provision of
information technology solutions to customers, including (i)
infrastructure solution such as network and data center; (ii)
system and security solution such as application server and
system security; and (iii) equipment reselling service. The
M.I.P. has a diversified customer base, including renowned
hotels, property developers and the government of Hong
Kong.
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Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and
borrowings divided by total equity at the respective reporting
date. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 0.02 times, while it was 0.02 times as at 31 March
2023. The Group's financial position is sound and strong. With
available bank balances and cash, the Group has sufficient
liquidity to satisfy its funding requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Certain trade receivables, bank balances and trade payables are
denominated in foreign currency of the respective group entities
which are exposed to foreign currency risk. Although part of the
Group's revenue and cost are in U.S. Dollar (“USD") and Japanese
Yen, the Group does not expect any significant movement in the
USD and Japanese Yen exchange rate. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Charge on the Group’s assets

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s building with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$5,716,000 were mortgaged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (31 March 2023:
HK$5,892,000).

Information on employees

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 35 employees (31 March
2023: 40) working in Hong Kong. Employees are remunerated
according to their performance and work experience. On top of
basic salary, commission, discretionary bonus and share option
may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual’s performance. The total staff
cost (including remuneration of the Directors and mandatory
provident funds contributions) for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$15,808,000 (2023: approximately HK$17,266,000).
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Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).

Event After Reporting Period

There is no significant event of the Group after the reporting
period.
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Executive Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung (Z=1&34), aged 44, is a founder of our Group.
He is the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), a
controlling Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and
an executive Director. He is currently responsible for overall
business development as well as financial and strategic planning
of our Group.

Mr. Li has over 18 years of experience in the ACG toy industry in
Hong Kong. Prior to establishing our Group, Mr. Li worked at L. Y.
Creative Co., Limited, which was a company engaged in toy
industry, from November 2002 to April 2004, with his last
position as project engineer. Subsequently, from May 2004 to
July 2004, he worked as a project engineer at Hutchison Harbour
Ring Co., Limited, which was a company engaged in toy industry.
In September 2004, he, among others, established Bestone
Creative for designing and manufacturing toys on ODM basis. In
December 2008, Mr. Li, among others, established Sentinel Hong
Kong with the aim to developing and distributing its own licensed
toys of ACG characters. Mr. Li obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Engineering in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in November 2001.

Mr. Li did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. TO Hoi Pan (#3838 ), aged 50, is an executive Director and
the company secretary of our Company. He is currently
responsible for (i) the financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury and financial control and company secretarial matters;
and (ii) the overall business development of our Group.

Mr. To has over 23 years of experience in the field of accounting
and financial management. Prior to joining our Group, he worked
as chief financial officer at Opes Asia Development Limited (Stock
code: 810) (currently known as China Castson 81 Finance
Company Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. To joined our Group as a chief
financial officer in March 2016, and was appointed as our
company secretary in March 2017.

Mr. To has been appointed as an independent director of SU
Group Holdings Limited since December 2023, the shares of
which are newly listed on the Nasdaqg Stock Market (NASDAQ:
SUGP).
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Mr. To obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the University of Wollongong in Australia in
December 1999. Mr. To is currently a certified practising
accountant of the CPA Australia and a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. To did not hold other directorship in
any other listed or public companies, of which the securities are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years.

Ms. LEE Kwai Fong (Z#£%), aged 38, is an executive Director
and our general manager. Ms. Lee joined our Group in August
2006 and was promoted to general manager in November 2011.
Ms. Lee is mainly responsible for managing the general operations
of our Group.

Ms. Lee did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHU Wai Tak (& {2%£), aged 46. was appointed as an Non-
executive Director on 1 December 2021.

Mr. Chu has been serving as director of operations at Sanwa
Biotech Limited (“Sanwa”) from September 2019 to present. Mr.
Chu is responsible for optimizing operations efficiency and
provides support to Sanwa’'s growth strategies. He obtained a
bachelor of science degree in Biochemistry from Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2001. Mr. Chu is a
patent holder on Apparatus and Method for Pyrolysis of Scrap
Tyres and the Like (US Patent 8,020,499 B2).

From November 2013 to September 2019, Mr. Chu was
employed as head of operations in QIAGEN Shenzhen Co., Ltd
("QIAGEN Shenzhen”), where he was in charge of managing the
operations of manufacturing facilities of QIAGEN Shenzhen. He
was also appointed as associate director of QIAGEN Shenzhen in
April 2014. From April 2010 to November 2013, Mr. Chu was
employed as product and change implementation manager in
QIAGEN Shenzhen.

Mr. Chu did not hold any directorship in any listed or public

companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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Mr. LEE Ming Yeung Michael (Z83#5), age 31, was appointed
as an Non-executive Director on 30 September 2021 and retired
on 11 August 2023.

Mr. Lee is currently serving as wealth management manager at
AlA International Limited. From 2018 to 2020, Mr. Lee was
employed as general manager and chief financial officer in
Shenzhen Guiyin technology Co. Ltd* (FJIHSREIE AR A
A]). From 2016 to 2017, Mr. Lee was employed as deputy general
manager in Zhongshan Jiahai Import & Export Trade Co. Ltd*
(humREEEOE 5 HEMRAF). He obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Arts (Hons) in Politics with International Relations from
the University of York in England in 2018.

Mr. Lee has been appointed as an Independent non-executive
director of K Group Holdings Limited, a company whose shares
are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8475) since
December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee did not hold other directorship
in any other listed or public companies, of which the securities
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the last three years.

Mr. WEI Qing (31%), aged 47, was appointed as an Non-
executive Director on 30 September 2021 and retired on 11
August 2023.

Mr. Wei is currently serving as the manager of Shenzhen Hongji
Taifu Asset Management Co., Ltd* (FII T L ERE EEE &
AR 2 7)) and the manager of Xuyong County Moni Impression
Hotel Management Co., Ltd* (RUKZERINRBEEEER A
A]). From October 2008 to June 2017, Mr. Wei was employed as
supervisor in Xuyong County Huayi Construction Engineering Co.
Ltd* (RUKBFFERBRETIRAREE R A). From 1998 to 2008,
Mr. Wei was employed by Luzhou Municipal Transport Bureau
Toll Road and Bridge Management Office* (J& /N i@ B Uk &
EIEEIER).

Mr. Wei did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

FHEEE 3N R T —FAA=T
BEZERFATEETEIR T _=F)\H
+T—HRE-

FREBAMRRARR (AR ERAREE
MEEELRE R_T-\FE_ZT_TF-

FRENFYITERBMEBR QR EEAL
BREFVBE R_T-—REFE_FT—+
FEFEERPUTREBELCNBEZIARLR
AEEAALE - BR T \FEREYD
RABERBOARBREESR (RE)X2L

B -

FREBZE-_—F1Z ﬁtﬁ%é&ﬁ?@
SEZERBERARNBILIFNTESR (A
Bt FE B S P GEM BT - Bt 5% - 8475) °

BREXPIRBEEN FRERBE=ZFLE
EEFEHFNERBLBIIMEMELRMS LT Z
EEM ENRARAREEEMEFTE -

MEXE 475 R_E-_—FhLA=+H
EZAEEATEETINR T _=ZFN\A
+—BERE-

RAEEBAEERIMAEREEEERA
RARIKERFKGBERNRBEEERR
RAKE RZEENFTAEZEZT—tF
NACBAEETEROKBEREETIREARE
FRAEAEST R —AANFEZZTEN
FRAEABRENTRBRUEKREBE
BE -

RAEERBEZFUEEEZTEREBLE
INMEMBESHEMIS EM2ERETHARAA
EEARESEG -

—EomEER EHEEERaEan 1D



Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YU Pui Hang (R7118), aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 May 2018. He is
primarily responsible for bringing an independent judgment to
ensure the continuing effectiveness of the management of our
Company. Mr. Yu is the chairman of our remuneration committee
and a member of our audit committee and nomination
committee.

Mr. Yu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws from the King's
College London of the University of London in the United
Kingdom in July 2001. Mr. Yu was admitted to practice law as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2004 and in England and Wales
in April 2005. Mr. Yu was appointed as the honorary legal advisor
to the Hong Kong Federation of Invention and Innovation in July
2017, the honorary legal advisor to the Institute of Financial
Technologies of Asia in January 2018 and the honorary legal
advisor to The GHM-Greater Bay Area TECHFIN Association in
May 2018. Mr. Yu has also qualifies as a Certified Financial
Technologist in 2020.

Mr. Yu worked as assistant solicitor at Kennedys from July 2004
to August 2005. From November 2005 to October 2006, he
worked as an associate at a Hong Kong office of Norton Rose
(Services) Limited. He then worked as an associate at Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer from November 2006 to July 2010. Mr. Yu
then worked at ICBC International Holdings Limited from July
2010 to December 2015 with his last position as executive
director, associate general counsel of legal department. Mr. Yu
has been one of the founding partners of the law firm, L&Y Law
Office since January 2016. He has also been the sole proprietor of
the law firm, Henry Yu & Associates since March 2018.

Mr. Yu has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Amuse Group Holding Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8545) since May 2018 and an independent non-executive director
of Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8512) from
July 2018 to November 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yu did not hold other directorship in
any other listed or public companies, of which the securities are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years.

Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice (A# ), aged 41, is an
independent non-executive Director. She is responsible for
providing independent judgement on our strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct. Ms. Chow is the chairlady of
our audit committee and a member of our remuneration
committee and nomination committee.

Ms. Chow obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce from The
University of Auckland in New Zealand in May 2004. She
subsequently obtained a degree of Master of Commerce in
Finance from The University of New South Wales in Australia in
September 2005. She has become a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 2010. She was also admitted as a member of Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand since November 2021.
Ms. Chow has over 15 years of experience in the auditing and
financial management industry. Ms. Chow worked as graduate
accountant in audit division at Stirling SCI, chartered accountants,
from July 2004 to May 2005. From September 2005 to December
2007, she worked at Wong Lam Leung & Kwok C.P.A Limited,
with her last position as accountant Il. She subsequently joined
Moore Stephens Associates Limited in Hong Kong as audit
assistant in January 2008 and worked until September 2012, with
her last position as an audit supervisor. From February 2013 to
July 2016, she worked as assistant finance manager at Boer
Power Holdings Limited (stock code: 1685), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From
October 2016 to December 2016, she was employed by Sky
Business Consultants Limited as consulting manager. From
January 2017 to February 2021, Ms. Chow served as the chief
financial officer and the company secretary of REM Group
(Holdings) Limited (“REM Group” (stock code: 1750), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).

Ms. Chow did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

—ToMEFE BAREEERRARAT

fREXFIIEEN REERBE=FLE
EHEBFREBREIMEMESFTH LT Z
EAEM ETRAR DR REELMEER

Akt AR REIUFNTESR K
BEEKE KRB BRIRTRERMAES
Hh AR L RECEZBEERUANFIESR
eLRBRZEEKE -

AZTR _ZZTNFRAAEFAFERE X
BRREEE TS -FEEN_ZETRF
NABRNTEBEBTREREBEELE
u(EEems) EA-T—ZFTF—ABK
AREBSHRMASCHESHM BT —
FrH—AR BAKAERMNEAABRSETS
A AE g8 AR TRBEFRYBERT
X¥BERISFER ARTBE_TTNF £
AREZZTTRF A AR E&HADStirling SCI
BT REXLEEFE B _ETRF
WAZZZEZ+E+ -8 BRENRES
SETES AR ARTR  ERENRBRGA
ZREHEF - BEER_ZEZENF AR
BEMABHEBRZER QG  EEETY
B WEBRE-—T——FNA REBUAE
AEE BT ZF AT F+t
A BEEEEEERER AR (RO
1685) Z BNIERE & 4538 - Z AR Z IR AR
FiEREMm - BZFT—A"EF+AEZZT—RX
FHZA BEXBEREENEERARAR
EEREE B - T—+tF—AE-_T ——
FoA AZRTREE2EEEREEER) A
RAR([2EERE®] (MRS 1750) -
ZARZBMRB R ER L) 2 ISRE
FATWE -

ALt BE=ZFABAEEZI SN BENLE
SMEMRESM S EH 2 EAEM EHRAR
NREEHMEFRL -

17



EE&nﬁ”ﬂAﬁ%u

Mr. TUNG Man (Z1X), aged 49, as appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 27 April 2023. He is responsible for
providing independent judgement on our strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct. Mr. Tung is the chairman of
our nomination committee and a member of our audit committee
and remuneration committee.

Mr. Tung has over 26 years of experience in the banking and
finance industry. From October 1997 to August 2000, Mr. Tung
worked at Dao Heng Bank Limited, with his last position as
consultant personal financial services. From August 2000 to
February 2005, Mr. Tung worked at Chekiang First Bank Limited,
and subsequently Wing Hang Bank, Limited (after its acquisition
of the former bank), with his last position as senior officer. Mr.
Tung subsequently worked at the Hong Kong Branch of Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. from February 2005 to October 2015
at which his last position was deputy chief relationship manager
of global banking. Mr. Tung was employed as managing director
in China Tian Yuan Finance Group from October 2015 to April
2021. Mr. Tung was employed as corporate finance director at
Kam Wang (Hong Kong) Investments Company Limited from
June 2021 to November 2023. He has been the investment
manager of Zhonghui International Securities Ltd. since January
2024. Mr. Tung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 11 May 2018 and retired on 1
February 2021.

Mr. Tung did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Mr. CHENG Pak Lam (¥B48#%), aged 35, as appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 19 August 2022 and
resigned on 27 April 2023.

Mr. Cheng has over 10 years of experience in accounting and
finance. Mr. Cheng has been the chief financial officer of Max
Team Engineering Limited since April 2022. He served as a
director of COB Management Consultants Limited from August
2021 to March 2022. Prior to August 2021, he worked at other
consultancy and accountancy firms to provide services in auditing,
management accounting, and consulting for licensed
corporations (Type 1, Type 4, and Type 9 regulated activities) and
listed companies.

Mr. Cheng is a full member of the HKICPA and CPA Australia and

holds a practicing certificate of HKICPA. He obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce in Accounting from Flinders University.
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Ms. KWOK Wai Ling (28% %), aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2021 and
resigned on 3 April 2023.

Ms. Kwok has over 10 years of experience in Shanghai real estate
development. From May 2005 to 2013, Ms. Kwok was appointed
as the director of Welchem Development Limited of which its
principal business is property investment. It was a subsidiary of
eCyberChina Holdings Limited, which was publicly traded under
the stock code 00254 at that time.

Company Secretary

Mr. TO Hoi Pan, the chief financial officer of the Company, was
appointed as company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) in March 2017. The biographical details of Mr. To are
disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report. For the year ended 31
March 2024, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15
hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

Senior Management

Ms. FU Man Yin ({88 &), aged 38, has joined our Group since
July 2014 and was promoted to marketing manager in March
2016. She is mainly responsible for overseeing the sales and
marketing activities of our Group. She obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Arts from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2009.

Prior joining our Group, Ms. Fu has accumulated experience in
marketing in Hong Kong through her employment at Konishi
M&E Limited as sales coordinator from August 2009 to April
2012 and BB Technology Limited as assistant to director from
August 2013 to December 2013.

Ms. Fu did not hold any directorship in any listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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The Company is committed in maintaining high standards of
corporate governance (“CG"). The Board believes that commitment
in CG practices will definitely benefit the Shareholders in long term.
During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules in force at that time.

The Board considers that good CG is central to safeguarding the
interests of the Shareholders and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board will continuously review and improve the
CG practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner.

With a view to further improving the Company’s CG practices,
the following actions were taken in 2024:

—  Appointment of non-executive Directors with appropriate
management experience to further broaden the collective
knowledge, perspective and skill of the Board.

— Appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors
(“INEDs") with appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management experience with
regulatory entitles to further broaden the collective
knowledge, perspective and skill of the Board.

— All members of the audit committee of the Company
("Audit Committee”) are INEDs and at least one of them
has appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
financial management experience.

—  To adopt Board diversity policy to recognise and embrace the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of
its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.
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Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing, as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (“the
Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Following specific enquiry by the
Company, all the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions during the Year.

The Board

The Board focuses on the overall strategic development and is
also responsible for monitoring the financial performance, risk
management and the internal controls of the Group. With a wide
range of expertise and a balance of skills, the INEDs bring
independent judgement on issues of strategic direction,
development, performance and risk management through their
contribution at Board meetings and committees work.

The Group is keen to strengthen its market position and generate
value for its investors while constantly looking out for its
stakeholders to attain sustainable development. The Group
formulates and implements the following strategies and plans to
achieve its objectives and value.

— The Board encourages its members to discuss the
underlying value of its culture at board meetings to align
and improve its strategies;

— The Group provides sufficient resources to execute its
strategies;

—  The management teams report to the Board at least every
quarter so that the Board can regularly evaluate the core
value of its culture;

—  Open communication is always available between the Board
and the Company’s workforce;

— The Board periodically monitors the Company’s conduct
and encourages holding the responsible individuals
accountable where any misalignment occurs;
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—  Share option scheme is available for the Board to provide
incentives for any relevant parties in future;

— The Board will assess any significant acquisitions and
disposals and approve the public release of periodic
financial results;

— Management teams regularly review the remuneration
policies of the employees; and

—  The Group maintains continuous communication with the
stakeholders to understand the potential impacts of its
culture and strategy.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All of the Directors have service agreements or letters of
appointment and the details of their terms are set out in the Report
of the Directors on pages 38 to 49 of this annual report. All
Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the annual
general meeting. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-election and
re-election of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at
the Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board
by the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) as more fully explained below under the section on
Nomination Committee of this annual report.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board has three executive
Directors; one Non-executive Directors; and three INEDs, as
shown on pages 25 to 31 of this annual report. Biographies of
the Company’s Directors are shown on pages 13 to 19 of this
annual report.

INEDs ensure the Board accounts for the interest of all
shareholders and subject matters are considered objectively. The
Board considers all of the INEDs to be independent. INEDs have
accounted for 43% of the full Board.

22

Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024

— BEREEAHEZENARAERNEA
A LIRULEER)

— EFgHTEEMERAKBREESRE
WHEAE R FIE M T R RAE

— EEEBREHRAEEHNEE &

— AKBEEBONERBHEBE UTHE
HX b RREEE B E
ZEIRERES

EREEHAITIURBHALZTER  BE
MEHFBENAFREIBEAVENESTS
HBEE- Ak%%ﬂmmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
ELEE - REIEFAEREEET  ANK
RBFARE LERREEEFHBEILAIAE
;ﬁﬁ WEESHRZER  MRARFRES

g ((REZEBEGDRABREALRESE
$§ EZHBRAFHRITXNREREZES
—EiE At -

BEEESAR
SANARFIRE 25 £ 31 B AT RASREBE
EISE-RYPTEF —RBIIFVTES K
TEBUPTEZT - ARANEZTRES
RARFREIZE19H -

BYERTESHRESTS A2 ERENF
#TE WERBERENEH ZES5IRAE
EEBUNTESHBE YL - B IEWRTT
EEhEFEREMNENLIZ% -



The Board established the following mechanisms to increase the
credibility of independents views.

Directors are entitled to seek external independent legal
and other professional advice for performing their duties.
Separate independent professional advice is always available
upon their request;

The Board (led by an INED) has conducted evaluation of the
directors’ (including INEDs) performance every half year
through questionnaires, interviews and/or observations.
Criteria for evaluation include (i) board meeting attendance;
(i) whether they actively participated in discussion; (iii)
whether they had the motivation and integrity required; (iv)
whether they had or were capable to devote sufficient time
to make contributions to the Group; (v) whether they had
the business experience and skills to effectively oversee the
management; and (vi) whether they were independent. The
aforementioned criteria are for by no means exhaustive or
decisive. Management, external advisers and key
stakeholders such as shareholders are also encouraged to
provide useful feedback;

The composition of the Board consisted of three INEDs,
which accounted for 3/7 of the Board;

The Chairman welcomes any nomination of directors. The
Board deploys multiple channels for identifying suitable
candidates, including directors’ referrals, management,
advisors of the Group and external executive search firms.
Candidates will be shortlisted by the Nomination
Committee and the Nomination Committee will evaluate
the candidate based on the aforementioned criteria. The
Board has the final authority to determine suitable
candidates to be elected as directors; and

The Group has received annual written confirmation from
each of the INEDs in respect of their independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 5.09 of the Listing Rules.
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Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
The Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”) is Mr. LI Wai Keung.

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. During the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Group has complied with the CG Code,
except for the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code. Mr. Li is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer and
he has been managing the Group's business and supervising the
overall operations of the Group since 2004. The Directors
consider that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer in Mr. Li is beneficial to the management and
business development of the Group and will provide a strong and
consistent leadership to the Group. The Board will continue to
review and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer at a time when it is appropriate and
suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group as
a whole.

Induction, Information and ongoing Development
All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may have affected the Group’s business, including
relevant rules and regulations. During the Year, all Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision A.6.5 contained in the CG Code.
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All of the Directors have also provided to the Company their
records of training attended or fulfillment of ongoing
development for the Year, the information of which has been
entered in the register of directors’ training records maintained
and updated by the Company from time to time. The following
summarises the compliance status of all Directors in respect of

code provision A.6.5 during the Year:
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FMEEENHERARBRTERNEEMR
MBI EINFEER FRE
HERSEREARATRREFLREH 2EEE
RSB R AT EEETNAFE
ETTRIGXEAGSRZIER

In compliance

with Code
A.6.5
B<FAl
Name of Directors EEpg FEA6.51%
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and TERBIE (FERITHABE)

Chief Executive Officer) v
Mr. To Hoi Pan MR v
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong FHEFZLT 4
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael FHRELEE

(retired on 11 August 2023) (R=—% __i)\ﬂ +—BEE) X
Mr. Wei Qing (retired on 11 August 2023) BELEWRZZE_=ZFNA+—HEMD X
Mr. Chu Wai Tak KREEEE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKHTES
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FIMEL A v/
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice A&+ v
Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023) ExiHE(R_T_=FMWA=-++H

BEE) v
Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023) gLt (RZEZ=FHA=++H

BHE) X
Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (resigned on 3 April 2023) FELLZT(RZE_=FWMA=HFT) X

—womEsER EhEEEpaEan 2D



A’

Role and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board delegated appropriate aspects of its management and
administrative functions to management. It also give clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the matters that management must report back and
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board
established three committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Board Process

All the Directors are regularly updated on the governance and
regulatory matters. There is an established procedure for Directors
to obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the
Company in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has
also arranged appropriate director and officer liability insurance
to cover any potential legal actions that might be taken against
its Directors.

The Board meets regularly throughout the Year to review the
overall strategies and monitor the operations as well as the
financial performance of the Group. Notice of at least 14 days
has been given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and
the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
whenever they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and
accompanying Board paper in respect of regular Board meetings
are despatched in full to all Directors within a reasonable time
before the meeting. Directors have to declare their direct or
indirect interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at Board meetings and abstain from
voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time
prior to confirmation.
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Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
are kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have free access
to board paper and related materials, enabling the Board to make
informed decision on matters place before. During the Year and
up to the date of this report, eight Board meetings were held and
the attendance details are as follows:

EE2eRNEFTREeOR IR ixd
RAMERE FMBEEENAHENESS
XHEEBERNCESEEERARER
EHFIBERE - RAFERBERFEAH
BERERIT\RERROFEFBLT

Board meeting

attended

during the

period covered

under this

annual report

EEAFEHERE

WHARE HE

Name of Directors BEENR NWEZEER

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and T EBREAE (TERITEAR)

Chief Executive Officer) 7/8
Mr. To Hoi Pan g e 8/8
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong ENES Bt 8/8
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Chu Wai Tak KEREE 8/8
Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael FHRBGEE

(retired on 11 August 2023) (RZEZ=FN\A+—HEMF) 1/8
Mr. Wei Qing (retired on 11 August 2023) REAERZZEZ=FNA+—HEM) 0/8
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FomiE %L & 7/8
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice B &R+ 7/8
Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023) BEXEE(RZEZ i@ﬂ +EBHEERT) 5/8
Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023)  EBiAMAEE (RZEZ=FH A=+ HET) 0/8
Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (resigned on 3 April 2023) BB (R4 A=HET) 0/8
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Board’'s Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Each of them has specific terms of reference to
consider matters relating to specific areas and to advise the Board
on such matters. INEDs play a significant role in these committees
to ensure that independent and objective views are taken. The list
of the Chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out on pages 27 to 31 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the Company'’s financial information,
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems, reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the scope of audit and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of external
auditors.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice (the Chairlady of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Mr. Tung Man, all being
independent non-executive Directors. No member of the Audit
Committee is @ member of the former or existing independent
auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed this
annual report, including the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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According to the current terms of reference, the Audit Committee
shall meet at least four times for a financial year. The Audit
Committee held a meeting 27 June 2024 (i) review and approve
the annual financial results in respect of the year ended 31 March
2024, (ii) discuss and consider the significant issues on the
financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) review the appointment of external auditors and
relevant scope of works. The record of attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:

REZR o BEGE ExZagER —E
PHRFERNBITELNARASZ BREET
RZEBEZWMFESRAZ+EHRITERENOE
MR EEE T -_NWF=A=1+—HItF

Ez2FMBEE: (VR hEEEMME
R 2 EROMES  BREERABEE
EMZBMBzEREER K SN2 H
iz REREGHITIFHE -BRZBEERK
BZHFELHEHINMT

Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend
HEEE®
Name of members of the Audit Committee ERZEEEHRERA HESR
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice EE =g dun 4/4
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FohEL A 4/4
Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023) EXEAERZE_=FNA=_++AH

EEZE) 4/4

Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023) BEmisE(RZE_=FHUA=-++tH
BHE) 0/4

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. Yu Pui Hang (the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice and Mr.
Tung Man, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure
none of the Directors or any of his/her associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) determine his/her own remuneration.
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The record of attendance of each member of the Remuneration HMEE &K E 2 HE DRI T -
Committee is set out as follows:

Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend
Name of members of HEEE®
the Remuneration Committee FHEESSRAENHS HES=
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FoffEkE 2/2
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice B &R L+ 2/2
Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023) EXSEAERZEZ=FNA=++AH
EZE) 172
Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023) BAMEE(RZE_=ZFHA=-++H
L) 0/2

Details of emoluments of the Directors for the year are setout in BRI E ERF AN 2 5 B 5515 SN AN F R AR A
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year in  FEHFATEHR (AT ERK])HES -
this annual report (“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

The remuneration of member of the senior management #HEZZT-_WF-A=-+—HIEFE &
(excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 EEEKE (T BIEESE) LEEE D 2 2

is set out below: #HT -
Number of
person(s)
Remuneration bands HENEEE A B AE
HK$500,000 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,000 7% 7T 2 1,000,000 7 7T 3
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Tung Man (the Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr.
Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice, all being
independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least
annually; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or reappointment of
Directors. Upon the establishment of the Nomination Committee,
the Board has adopted a policy of diversity of the Board.
Accordingly, selection of Board members should be based on a
range of diversified perspective, including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The record of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out as follows:
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Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend
Name of members of HEEER
the Nomination Committee REZEEEHERA HESR
Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023) EXEERZE_=FNA=-++AH 11
BEE)
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FofELE 11
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice Bt 11
Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023) BmEE(RZEZ=FHA=++H 0/1
BHE)
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company conducts an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group'’s simple
operating structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit
department, the Board is directly responsible for the
establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s system of
internal controls and risk management throughout the Year and
their effectiveness. The Company has engaged an external
independent professional advisory firm (the “Independent
Advisor”) to review the effectiveness and adequacy of risk
management and internal control systems in the Year so as to
ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and
internal controls system. The Independent Advisor had reviewed
and analysed all material controls of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and their
associated risks. The relevant reports from the Independent
Advisor were presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board.

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted a whistleblowing policy. It provides employees
and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group (e.qg.
customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) with guidance and
reporting channels on reporting any suspected improprieties in
any matters related to the Group directly addressed to the
designated person.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is designated to receive
the relevant complaints for this purpose. All reported matters will
be investigated independently and, in the meantime, all
information received from a whistleblower and its identity will be
kept confidential. The Board and the Audit Committee will
periodically review the whistleblowing policy and mechanism to
improve its effectiveness.

The Board considered the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year.
The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs and
budget which are considered to be adequate for the Year.
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Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Company has put in place whistleblowing policy which
applies to all the directors and employees of the Group and any
parties who deal with the Group. The policy is designed to
provide the employees and any external parties with confidential
whistleblowing channels to report to the Group the actual or
suspected illegal activities and misconducts in corporate financial
reporting, internal control or other areas. Whistle-blowers are
able to contact the Board directly through the contact method
provided on the Company’s website. The identity of the whistle-
blower and all the concerns or irregularities raised will be treated
with confidence and every effort will be made to ensure that
confidentiality is maintained throughout the process. The Audit
Committee, which is responsible for oversight and monitoring of
the whistle-blowing policy and mechanism, will make decisions
on further actions (if needed). The Company is also committed to
ensuring the protection of the whistle-blower against detrimental
or unfair treatment.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group does not tolerate any corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud or money laundering during the course of its business
activities. As such, it has formulated an anti-corruption policy (the
“Anti-Corruption Policy”) which prohibits all forms of corruption
practice by making reference to the relevant laws and regulations.
The Anti-Corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group'’s
corporate governance framework, which sets out the specific
behavioural guidelines that the employees of the Group must
follow to combat corruption. The Anti-Corruption Policy is
reviewed and updated on a regular basis to align with the
applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practices. All the employees are informed and expected to act
with integrity, impartiality and honesty. We encourage and
provide directors and senior management with professional
training sessions and seminars covering corporate governance,
business development and strategy and anti-corruption to enrich
and strengthen their professional and business knowledge.
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Dividend Policy

The Company formulated the Dividend Policy to set out the
principles for the Board to consider before making any dividend
distribution. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, included but not limited to: (i) the general financial
condition of the Group; (ii) working capital and debt level of the
Group; (iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development needs;
and (iv) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

After considering the plan and proposal of the management, the
Board may, at its discretion, propose or decide to distribute
interim dividends. Final dividends shall be proposed to the
Shareholders for approval.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditors
of the Company, Privatco CPA Limited, in respect of audit services
for the Year amounted to HK$620,000.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and
Auditors

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and comply with the requirement of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. The auditors are
responsible for forming an independent opinion, based on the
audit, on the financial statements prepared by the Directors and
reporting the opinion solely to the Shareholders. The Independent
Auditor’s Report is set out on pages 50 to 56 of this annual
report.
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Investor and Shareholder Relation

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level of
transparency in communicating with Shareholders and the
investment community at large. Briefings and meetings with
institutional investors and analysts are conducted regularly. The
Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on
relevant regulatory requirements.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate
communications of the Company are made available on the
Company’s website at http://www.amusegroupholding.com and
updated regularly on a timely basis.

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ right and
all shareholders are treated equally and fairly. The Company will
announce and publish its quarterly, interim and annual results in
a timely manner, which is well before the time limits set out in
the GEM Listing Rules. Separate resolutions will be proposed at
the general meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the re- election of individual Directors, if any.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders.

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an
important event in which the Chairman and all Directors will
make an effort to attend. External auditors shall also be invited to
attend the Company’s annual general meeting and are also
available to assist the Directors in addressing queries from
Shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the
preparation and content of the auditors’ report. All Shareholders
are given prior notice on a timely basis together with a detailed
agenda. The Board, according to the GEM Listing Rules, will
conduct voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting
(“AGM") by poll. The results of the Company will be declared at
the meeting, and announced timely on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website.
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Shareholders’ Rights
Procedures for convening an extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting.

Any Shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or
more of the Company’s total issued share capital shall be entitled
to request the Board in writing to convene an extraordinary
general meeting. Upon receiving such request, the Board shall
issue a notice of extraordinary general meeting within 21 days
and hold an extraordinary general meeting within two months
from the receipt of such request. If within 21 days of the receipt
of such request the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the Shareholder(s) proposing to convene an
extraordinary general meeting in writing may himself/herself
(themselves) convene an extraordinary general meeting in the
same manner.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquires to the
Board

Shareholders must prove to the Board that they really own the
equity interests of the Company (e.g. by proving shareholding
documents etc.). The Company suggests Shareholders should
submit their enquiries in writing (including by email, facsimile and
mail) and provide sufficient contact details so that the Company
can process their enquiries in a proper and timely manner.

Shareholders may contact the Company via the following means:

Address: Flat B, 33/F., Plaza 88
No. 88 Yeung Uk Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
Hong Kong
Email: info@amusegroupholding.com
Tel No.: (852) 3702 3276
Fax No.: (852) 3959 0091
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

—  To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

— To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

—  To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

—  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

—  To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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The Board is pleased to present this report and the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Corporate Reorganisation

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 16 November 2016. In preparing for the
Listing, the Company became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group which had underwent the
Reorganisation (as defined in the Prospectus).

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
major activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the Year is provided in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 5 to 12 of this annual report. The Group's risk
management and internal control system is provided in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 20 to
37 of this annual report.

Compliance With the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Group during the Year.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 57 to 61 of this
annual report. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend and resolved not to declare any final dividend in respect
of the Year (2023: Nil).
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 160 of this annual
report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 24.2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s accumulated loss is
approximately HK$40,809,000 (2023: approximately
HK$40,709,000), calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in note 24.1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 60 of this
annual report respectively.

Borrowings
Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024
are set out in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2024, so far as the Company is
aware, the aggregate revenue attributable to our five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
53.8% and 43.2%, respectively, of the Group's total revenue for
the financial year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 79.4% of the Group's
total purchases for the financial year and the purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
31.7%. None of the Directors, or any of his close associates (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) or Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital), had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers during the financial
year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Donation
During the Year, the Group did not make any charitable and
other donations.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company has maintained the percentage
of public float as prescribed in the GEM Listing Rules for the Year
and at any time up to the date of this annual report.

40

Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024

FEEFRMHERS

BHE-_Z-_ME=A=+—BILEE #X
AR AEEBRAATEFAGZATFEN
RUBHAEER AT RFENBUZED 5
#49/553.8% Kk 43.2% - MALEE A KEEDD
KREEHAEERATRFENBRESELY
794%  EFBERSEAREANEBEY
31.7% c RAMRFEE - EE kKA ZRH
BZA(EERGEM LA SR (EEE
M BAAAREBITRASY A L) #ER
AEEMNAARF N HEERE T ESER

BERBERE
REFARMABEREN (MR xME
HBAE ISR AR RARLAIBRS
BRBEMBOELBERE -

B
R A R A E R IRR -

RHADNBBKRE
REFDAMBABEHNRBEENE R
AWERE ARRERAFEREEASF
R B HE A BSR4 55 GEM E AR AR E 09 2
BEREESLL -



Directors
The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to and
including the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. To Hoi Pan

Ms. Lee Kwai Fong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chu Wai Tak

Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael (retired on 11 August 2023)
Mr. Wei Qing (retired on 11 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Pui Hang

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice

Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 27 April 2023)
Mr. Cheng Pak Lam (resigned on 27 April 2023)
Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (resigned on 3 April 2023)

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Directors shall have
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or
as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next
general meeting of members of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, notwithstanding any
other provisions in the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three
years.
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Directors’ and Senior Management'’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report
are set out on pages 13 to 19 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he or she has
agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years with effect from the Listing date and will be automatically
extended. Either party has the right to give not less than three
months’ written notice to terminate the service agreement.

The non-executive Directors has been appointed for a fixed term
of two years with effect from the Appointment Date.

Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice have been
appointed for a fixed term of three years with effect from the
Listing date and will be automatically extended. Mr. Tung Man
and Mr. Chu Wai Tak have been appointed for a fixed term of
two years with effect from the Appointment Date. Save for the
Directors’ fees, none of the independent non-executive Directors
is expected to receive any other emolument for holding his or her
office as a non-executive Director or an independent non-
executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed or
entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than the statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independency of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Directors’ Interest in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

Related Party Transaction

Details of material related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. None of
the material related party transactions disclosed in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction (as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company for the
Year. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Company.

Emoluments of the Directors and the Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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Emolument Policy

The executive Directors, the independent non-executive Directors
and senior management receive compensation in the form of
directors’ fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation to
the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors and senior management by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by
comparable companies, respective responsibilities of the Directors
and performance of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children (under 18 years of age), or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement whose objectives are to enable a Director to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors
and Chief Executive in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), Chapter 571),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

RZZE-_WF=A=+—H EFRKARQ
IgﬁﬁAﬁm$@TXﬁEﬂm%£@uE
ERFESTEBZBHNAEGRO ((BHMABEK
Bl ]) EXVE) BB - MR REEEF
HERBEEHFRBEKRIEXNVIEE7RSDE
EMG AR RIS IORE (BIEHK
EREFZHFRBEKRNEBIECHEIERSR
BRENEZIAR)  HBRIEFESFKBEK
B2 352 (R AR BN Z GBI AT I Z et M 2=
FAR K BEEBRESETESR %m
GEM F TR BB 546 2567 I6BME AR
MBS TS SOA BRI ¢

Percentage of

Number of issued share
Nature of interest/ ordinary capital of
Name of Director Holding capacity shares held the Company
HARDTE BT
BEENA BaEMtE ERER S EREE BANE D
(Note 1)
(MF=E1)
Mr. Li Wai Keung (“Mr. Li") Interest of a controlled corporation 180,800,000 (L) 15.16%
FEBEE([FhE] SN £ (Notes 2, 3)
(B$sE2 ~ 3)
Notes: 5T -
1. As at 31 March 2024, the Company issued ordinary share capital was 1. RZZZMNFE=A=+—H8 XRARZERHTERE
HK$11,923,077 divided into 1,192,307,692 Shares of HK$0.01 each. & 78 % 11,923,077 % 7T (9 £1,192,307,692 i & i
EE0.01 T2 RH) °
2. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd (“Infinite Force”), a company incorporated in the 2. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd ([ Infinite Force]) & —

British Virgin Islands on 18 October 2016 and an investment holding
company, is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li who is the Chairman
and an executive Director. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the
180,800,000 Shares held by Infinite Force by virtue of his 100%
shareholding interest in Infinite Force.

3. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

ZE-RFTAT\BEEBHB RS MR
ZREERAR  HAXRRATESTLLERE
B A o Bt R E % £ Rinfinite Force A
100% f% # - 1% % 18 & R Infinite ForceF B 2
180,800,000 A& & 17 4 e 25 o

3. FERILIEZALRBOD 278 -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other
interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to
be recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 March 2024, person (other than the directors of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, was recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

BREXFEEEN RZEZEF=/[=+—
H ZEFTRARFETETHRAERERER
Bk HARAEEZE (& R EBH KBS GG
FEXVER) MR - HER G REREFFHEER
BB A R B EH)F 352 MR E B AKRRA
RITFEMELMANTREMERS AR
i*ETJ%GEMJ:miEH'J%S46{I’z2,\%DA$’RT
G E M E MR SAE -

FERRRAQFRND - HEARED
REERETHERRKE

R-ZZF_WNE=ZA=1t—H KBARAES
S RIBESMBERIIEIBHEATFEZ
BRMALE  FEEHARADETRAS%
A B2 AR A B dn B AR B B D 2 7 an ok
BREOALHIIIMT

Percentage of

Number of issued share

Nature of interest/ ordinary capital of

Name of Shareholders Holding capacity shares held the Company

R YNE TS £y

BREEZB REME RS G FEERREE BRAWE DL

(Note 1)

(B3E1)

Infinite Force Beneficial owner 180,800,000 (L) 15.16%
EnlERA A (Notes 2, 3)
(BsE2 ~ 3)

Ms. Fong Wing Yan (“Ms. Fong”) Interest of spouse 180,800,000 (L) 15.16%
mEEaZ LT (L)) Bt (5 7 2= (Notes 2, 3)
(HE2 ~3)

Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Beneficial owner 65,000,000 (L) 5.45%

ML Bt EalEEA
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Notes:

1. As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital was
HK$11,923,077 divided into 1,192,307,692 Shares of HK$0.01 each.

2. Infinite Force, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 18
October 2016 and an investment holding company, is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Li who is the Chairman and an executive Director. Therefore,
Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the 180,800,000 Shares held by Infinite
Force by virtue of his 100% shareholding interest in Infinite Force.

3. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

4. Ms. Fong is the spouse of Mr. Li. She is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Mr. Li is interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s business at ay time during the Year and up to and
including the date of this annual report.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Ample Capital Limited (“Ample Capital”)
to be the compliance adviser. As informed by Ample Capital,
neither Ample Capital nor any of its directors or employees or
close associates, has or may have, any interest in the share capital
of the Company or any member of the Group (including options
or rights to subscribe for such securities), which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM
Listing Rules, except for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and Ample Capital dated 10
May 2018 and as supplemented dated 26 August 2019, 15 April
2021 and 30 June 2022 (the “Compliance Adviser Agreement”).
The Company and Ample Capital have mutually agreed to
terminate the Compliance Adviser Agreement on 1 October
2022.

MeE

1. RZZZMF=A=+—H ARRZB#ETLE
& 7R 11,923,077 7t (9 £1,192,307,692 I & i
HE0.01 BT Z kD) °

2. Infinite Force B — IR Z=Z—F+A+/\BEHREB
HRRHEFMA L ZREERAR  HHFER
HITEETLE2EEZHE - Al el ThAE
A Infinite Force A 100% A& 1 » 1% % 18 & 7 Infinite
Force # % 2 180,800,000 f A% 15 o A i 25 ©

3. FRILIEZALRBO 278 -

4. FRERFTHREZRRE - REEF MHAEERIIEXV
B RS ARF LR AR RO TR BELS -
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Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

As permitted by the Articles, a director of the Company may be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which the director shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of his or her duty as a director of the Company, to the
extent permitted by law. Such permitted indemnity provision has
been in force since the adoption of the Articles and is currently in
force at the time of approval of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its
directors and officers.

Deed of Non-Competition

Each of the controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of its/his compliance with the terms and undertakings
of the deed of non-competition provided to the Company under
the Deed of Non-competition (as defined in the Company’s
Prospectus). The INEDs have reviewed the status of compliance
and confirmed that all the terms and undertakings under the
Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by the
controlling Shareholders.

Corporate Governance

The Company and its management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all
shareholders. The Company believes that good corporate
governance is essential for continual growth and enhancement of
shareholder’s value. From the listing date to the date of this
annual report, the Company has applied and complied with the
code provisions stipulated in the Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices with
reference to the latest development in corporate governance. The
Group's principal corporate governance practices and compliance
with code provisions are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 20 to 37 of this annual report.
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Environmental and Corporate Social
Responsibilities

During the Year, the Group is committed to continuously
promote the long-term, stable and sustainable development of
employees, environmental protection and social responsibilities.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Year
containing all information required by the GEM Listing Rules will
be published on the respective websites of GEM and the
Company in due course.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed with management the
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the accounting
principles and practices adopted and discussed auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters.

Auditor

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by
Privatco CPA Limited (“Privatco CPA"). A resolution to re-appoint
Privatco CPA as our auditor will be submitted for shareholders’
approval at our forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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Privatco CPA Limited

To the shareholders of Amuse Group Holding Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Amuse
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 158, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition from sales of
products

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policy in note 2.16.

EPENDENT AUDITO

E e ——
e ——
—

R'S REPORT
BB e RS

BRRETEE
MRBFZHEDIREESZ 2B XA
BARGEMBRRIETRA/EEZSER -
HEFRREEFENEBGEAMBHRERR
HEAERRETRE BESTEHELER
REEBCER -
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The Key Audit Matter
BEREEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENETNMEEZSEE

The Group’s revenue from sales of products is mainly
generated from the sales of Original Design
Manufacturing ( “ODM") toys to license holders,
distribution of imported toys and related products, and

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue
recognition from sales of products included the

following:

EEREREHEERIWAER cHHEHZEARRF

sales of own licensed toys and related products.
Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred to the customers in accordance with e
the contractual arrangements and related agreed
commercial shipping terms.

EEEXREBHEERN PR T EREHERRAE o
E(TODMD A TRFHAA - DiHEQITA KAE
BMERMANMEEAREAMARBHEER - B8 M
BEHIEBRBEANTHERBAKLH THOEEEXRGER o
ERERPR - AR

During the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue
generated from the sales of ODM toys to license
holders, distribution of imported toys and related
products, and sales of own licensed toys and related e
products are HK$90,316,000, HK$66,802,000 and
HK$59,072,000 respectively.
BHE_Z_MF=A=1+—HILFE  HEODMIT
BETRIHEA DHEEOTARBHEERNARE

EERFHARARERERAMEENKE D B H

90,316,000 7T * 66,802,000 % 7T & 59,072,000 AT °

BREATRIE :

understanding and reviewing the design and
implementation of key internal controls over
revenue recognition;
THREEHBERN KSR R AEES 2R
KREM

inspecting key customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating to
transfer of control of the goods and assessing the
Group's timing of revenue recognition from sales
of products with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;
MEREARTFAAONEREE REtEER
B GRRGE  ARS2RBTEFT LA E
Kt EXEREHEEROWRERRRE

—EomEsER EHEEERaEaF D]
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Timing of revenue recognition from sales of
products (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BERESEE

RREETEE )
REHEERN KRB (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENETNNERZSE

The Group evaluates the contractual and shipping terms
of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing for revenue recognition.

SEFERHEAHNNE O MEXGFIAETE K
SERNEERE -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition from
sales of products as a key audit matter because each
sales contract may have different terms and conditions
which increases the risk of error and because revenue is
one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
could be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.

MR X HE S QA e E A &8 hnEE 3R &k 6 AR &
%’K&ﬂ%# MRarzn BEBEEP-HBERKRERE
2 WAl X B RQLAERHILERR  MEZHAIK
Si ﬁﬁ%éuuﬁ’]ﬂﬂzﬁnﬁﬁm RERMRETEE -
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comparing revenue transactions recognised during
the year, on a sample basis, with contracts and
goods delivery notes with the customers’
acknowledgement of receipt and acceptance of the
goods or bills of lading and assessing whether
revenue was recognised in accordance with the
Group's revenue recognition policies;
BELBRFRNERRBR R ZEEHNRTEEEP
BN R ZENEmBANEEERIRE - WA HK
mERBRBEASE WS ERBUR T AER

comparing, on a sample basis, whether specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date with underlying sales
invoices and shipping documents to determine
whether the related revenue had been recognised
in the appropriate financial period; and

T&*ﬁ%tt@l—‘tﬁﬂiﬁl BEARZ ABWER 5 A
BHERE LB M ERH Xt L/{FZE*HE%H&;@

ERAEBEE ZFHRATAER

inspecting underlying documentation for manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were
considered to meet specific risk-based criteria.
BERKZEHAABRRANTEEERBRGGNF
TABRGC SRR -



OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 30 June
2023.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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~ INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPO
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Privatco CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lam Man Chi

Practising Certificate No. P05324

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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D STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
rEEEhEMEEHKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BlE —Z —UF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ED@E T o=F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
= FHET T
Revenue &= 4 219,190 235,963
Cost of sales 85 & AR 14(b) (181,352) (190,227)
Gross profit EF 37,838 45,736
Other income, net Hith g A F 58 5 1,837 651
Selling expenses HERX (6,779) (9,187)
Administrative expenses TR (26,560) (27,993)
Fair value changes of financial assets R AFEFABZZ SBEE
at fair value through profit or loss B A FEEE (3,474) (1,395)
Reversal of Provision of ECL allowance & 5 fE Wz IEIE = B &5 18
on trade receivables AR TR 15 77 19
Provision of ECL allowance on trade & 5 W IEIE = EEE
receivables BT 15 - (80)
Provision of ECL allowance on other  E {tl & U sk 1B 38 #(= B &5 18
receivables B F 5 16 = (157)
Share of profit of associates FEAG B = 2 B) 25 A 13(b) (1,041) 263
Share of loss of a joint venture EiH—REeEEL T ZEE 13(a) = =
Profit from operations £S5 F| 1,898 7,857
Finance costs & A 6(a) (368) (234)
Profit before taxation B Bi AT 0% A 6 1,530 7,623
Income tax expense FTiS R R 2 7(a) (1,044) (1,861)
Profit and total comprehensive KRB EREEAEML
income for the year FREANREZE KRS
attributable to equity holders e
of the Company 486 5,762
Earnings per share for profit AAREEEE ARGRR
attributable to equity holders HWEREF
of the Company
— Basic and diluted (in HK cents) — HAR N EE (LUBLED) 10 0.04 0.49

The notes on pages 57 to 158 are an integral part of these 57 =158 B WM AKX S 4R A MISHRE
consolidated financial statements. B —& 5 o
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CONSC DAITED
ma PR &

At 31 March 2024 R=Z = =A=+—H

2024 2023
—EoNE T =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BREREE 11 20,573 29,619
Goodwill (EES 12 5,378 5,378
Financial assets at fair value through AT EFABRZEMEE
profit or loss 17 - 1,905
Interests in joint ventures REERRINERD 13(a) = 3
Interests in associates R R R R RED 13(b) 17,172 18,213
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 23(b) 99 646
Other receivables H b W GRIE 16 623 1,285
43,845 57,049
Current assets REEE
Inventories "E 14(a) 2,392 1,521
Trade and bills receivables B 5 WA & ER R & 15 21,892 13,296
Other receivables H b U 3R I8 16 45,625 44,435
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFABRZ EMEE
profit or loss 17 4,007 5,753
Current tax recoverable A] Ug [e] B EA 75 18 23(a) 1,424 1,233
Bank deposits and cash RITHERERS 18(a) 102,696 133,555
178,036 199,793
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A KIA 19 12,812 22,448
Contract liabilities AHAEE 20 5,243 27,232
Amount due to a joint venture B —fA B RARIFIA 13(a) = 3
Bank loan RITEN 21 3,075 3,187
Lease liabilities HEAR 22 3,835 3,748
Current tax payable &t BN HAFR 18 23(a) 260 =
25,225 56,618
Net current assets REBEEFE 152,811 143,175
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERREAE 196,656 200,224
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At 31 March 2024 R=ZF=F=A=+—H

2024 2023
—EoNE T =F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
M FExT FAT

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 22 - 3,877
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBAE 23(b) 56 233
56 4,110
Net assets BEEFE 196,600 196,114

EQUITY R

Share capital &% A< 24.2 11,923 11,923
Reserves & 184,677 184,191
Total equity BrER 196,600 196,114

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

27 June 2024.

Li Wai Keung

FREE

Director

EF

The notes on pages 57 to 158 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

EZEN_FT_NFAA-TEABERRK

RETIED -

To Hoi Pan
paSPs
Director

EF

2557 & 158 B /) Mt 52 48 AKX 7% 5 4R
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EAREBEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

Merger
Share Share reserve Retained Total
capital premium  (Note 24.3) profits equity
BOHRE

Bx  RtaE (FE243)  RERA Y £
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TR TR TR TBTL

Balance at 1 April 2022 R-ZB--—FMA—H
g 10,000 66,991 129 103,232 180,352
Issue of share capital (note 24.2)  Z{T AN (Fff5E24.2) 1,923 8,077 - = 10,000
Profit and total comprehensive ~ FREFI L 2 EINZEE
income for the year - - - 5,762 5,762

Balance at 31 March 2023 and R=ZE=-=%=H=+—H
1 April 2023 R-Z-=£MA-A
:0F==3 11,923 75,068 129 108,994 196,114

Profit and total comprehensive SRR FI & 2 iS58
income for the year - - - 486 486

Balance at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_mE=ZA=+-H
0k 11,923 75,068 129 109,480 196,600

The notes on pages 57 to 158 are an integral part of these 57 = 158 B WM T %2 S 4R A M ISR K
consolidated financial statements. B—& 5 o
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ﬁNSdﬁDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CARSRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FER T3
Operating activities REEH
Cash (used in)/generated from & (), FrisRse
operations 18(b) (27,541) 10,649
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREAEREH (605) (387)
Net cash (used in)/generated from B (FTA) ATz
operating activities B3 FEE (28,146) 10,262
Investing activities REZE
Interest received RSN 5 2,190 507
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of Wb — B A &)
cash acquired (BRI EER &) - (6,988)
Acquisition of an associate g B8 — fE B 2 A A = (7,950)
Placement of bank deposits with FHREEE &= A
original maturities over three months LA _FHYER1T1F K 18 (79,182) (17,060)
Withdrawal of bank deposits with RIREEHHE A=A
original maturities over three months LA £ 8JSR7T1E 3K 18 17,060 =
Payment for the purchase of BERE REAREENK
equipment, furniture and fixtures 1 (633) (11,173)
Net cash used in investing activities BREZE TG FE (60,565) (42,664)
Financing activities Rl ESEE
Repayment of bank loan BERRITER 18(c) (112) (140)
Interest paid ERFE 18(c) (368) (234)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBGERNNK 18(c) (3,790) (2,369)
Net cash used in financing activities BEZE TR FE (4,270) (2,743)
Net decrease in cash and ReRESEEYRD FHE
cash equivalents (92,981) (35,145)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYRE MRS EEY
beginning of the year 116,495 151,640
Cash and cash equivalents at the FREGRREEEY
end of the year 18(a) 23,514 116,495

The notes on pages 57 to 158 are an integral part of these 57 =158 B WM EAMKZ S 4R A MIEHRE
consolidated financial statements. B —EB5 °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T —NFE=A=+—HIEFE

62

=M aE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s registered office is Third
Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands and the principal place
of business of the Company is at Flat B-E, 33/F., Plaza 88,
No. 88 Yeung UK Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
"Group”) are principally engaged in design, marketing,
distribution and retail sales of toys and related products,
and provision of agency services. The principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

2.1 Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong.

These financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and include the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing
Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024

—REH

BREBEZERERAE ([RA7E]) iR
BERERERAAEERE(—NAA—F
FE=90R0 - KRG REF) RFASHS
T ER AR o ANQE A
= & 0 3E 12 72 Third Floor, Century Yard,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman lIslands * 2%
RAMEZEEMBURB BN AR E
15 = 38 88 57 Plaza 88 3318 B-E = ©

RRBRBREERAE - AR A REK
BAR(GHEIAKE]) EERERE
L DHERTEMARBEBEERAR
RURERE -HMBRANEIRZEBH
RERE B R MEE25

EXRETHBEREN

21 6REH
HERBBRRERBESUERE
B ([ BB BREED ) RE
BB RE LN OER BT
Ng ([BEQHMAS]) BHEMHAT
BHEBAEANESHKRE LD &
B ER (BB e &l ) k2
BURBBLREMN G LR -

ZEMBRER NG A F B R ARSI
MERRENBREEEMERZ M
BRARGEMEZH ETRAI ([GEM
EWRRADMEREERE - A&
B E R RFTBERN T KE -



==

AT

oLID

—
e ——

NCIAL STATEMENTS

e R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTINUED)

2.1

2.2

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amended
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2.3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except certain financial assets are stated at their
fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

2.2

2.3

64

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in note 3.

Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual period beginning on 1 April 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts

Amendments to Definition of accounting

HKAS 8 estimates
Amendments to Disclosure of accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS  policies

Practice Statement 2

Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

International tax reform
— Pillar Two model rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 12

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no
material impact on how the results and financial
position of the Group for the current and prior
periods have been prepared and presented.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs
(Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended
HKFRSs have been published but are not yet effective,
and have not been adopted early by the Group.

Amendment to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 and Hong Current and Non-current and
Kong Interpretation 5  the related amendments to
(Revised) Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand

Clause’

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants'

Amendments to Lease Liabilities in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback’

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements'
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

Amendments to Sales or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

e R
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTINUED)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

(Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s
accounting policy for the first period beginning on or
after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new and amended HKFRSs are not
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism

As disclosed in note 26, in June 2022 the Hong Kong
SAR Government (the “Government”) gazetted the
Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”),
which will come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of
the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
contributions to mandatory provident fund (“MPF")
scheme to reduce the long service payment (“LSP”) in
respect of an employee’s service from the Transition
Date (the abolition of the “offsetting mechanism™). In
addition the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and
the abolition of the mechanism. In particular, the
guidance indicates that entities may account for the
accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF
contributions that are expected to be used to reduce
the LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the LSP.

Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024

 CONSOLIDATED FIN/

2. EXRSFHHBEER#)
23 BAFIRKBITEEGRS

BEED (&)

EEEH - MBEBRISRIER] £
Bfg kAR BERBRZAE
BEFEREPEERN - AT REE
AR BHREENENENTE
HASENGRAMBERRELEX

2. 45
FEo

EBEIMAERBUERE
& — RABRBEZHH#EH 2
Eif B Z A5
W26 TR E KT —
NACBAERREBE (TBALD &
(2= —FREIRIREED
(L) (ER]) &P (TERT &
FITE EBE-—ZT_AFHA
— B (BEE A AR - BFT &
FIERE  BEBBEBHMESS
BEAERWERTES ([RE2])
At & 58 1 R EE A MY (AT A A
= WD R B RB O RMRE <
(TEHRBE]) (BB [HEHHE
H1) e tbsh - RBIE B #ATE B AR
BRRMRG 2 HREZZEKA
HrEE M A EEEZ A HRS
FHEHE -

RZZE-Z=F+F FFLMA
eHEMIEREERESRERE
CHEEFINSTHE]  RHEE
B R EERR I = EHE
5l- AB8iME - 85| RBEREA K
FEHAERLEMEERBKRS ¢
B 5% 78 < 58 il i 3K EE A AD FE AT Il 2
AR EAZEEHERHRE M
BAEHEER



ANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRNE

“HE=A=t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &= — =

2. EXREFTHBEER#)
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTINUED)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

(Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism (Continued)
However, applying this approach, upon the
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance in June
2022, it is no longer permissible to apply the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits that previously allowed such deemed
contributions to be recognised as reduction of service
cost (negative service cost) in the period the
contributions were made; instead these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of
service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability
and has applied the above HKICPA guidance
retrospectively. The cessation of applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits in conjunction with the enactment of the
Amendment Ordinance resulted in a catch-up profit
or loss adjustment in June 2022 for the service cost
up to that date and consequential impacts on current
service cost, interest expense and remeasurement
effects from changes in actuarial assumptions for the
rest of 2022 (see note 26), with the corresponding
adjustment to the comparative carrying amount of
the LSP liability. This change in accounting policy did
not have an impact on the opening balance of equity
at 1 April 2022, and the cash flows and earnings per
share amounts for the year ended 31 March 2023. It
also did not have a material impact on the company-
level statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2024.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.4 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

The Group includes income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included
in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct
attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre
or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the
Company’s profit or loss.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.5 Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is
recognised as an asset at the date that control is
acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured
as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the Group's interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for impairment
(see note 2.13).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of gain or loss on
disposal.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (other than
cost of right-of-use assets as described in note 2.8).
Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual value (if any) using the straight-line method

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building situated on
leasehold land

Leasehold improvements
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

Moulds Shorter of the licensed
period of 2 to 3 years or
the remaining of licensed

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use

assets is set out in note 2.8.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,

at the end of each reporting period.
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Over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease
and their estimated useful
lives, i.e. 30-50 years
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.7 Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence, which is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control of those
policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions relating about relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

In consolidated financial statements, interest in an
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at
cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity
method.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. EXEFHBERER#)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

2.7 Associates and joint ventures (Continued) 27 BERAREEAT(#)
Under the equity method, the Group's interest in the LRERE  AREREE R F K
associate or joint venture is carried at cost and BERNRINES LN AT - W3
adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in the REBEEHERRNEE R AN
Group'’s share of the associate or joint venture's net BEFERAMDHREEER
assets less any identified impairment loss, unless it is WHE NS EIEL AR  HESER
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal BIEHEE (REFAFBELEER
group that is classified as held for sale). The profit or B EARRE) BRI FRER
loss for the year includes the Group’s share of the BREAEBEFABGE S FIHE
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associate or BRAIWI SR RBRBIEEE (B
joint venture for the year, including any impairment BENERZRNEERARNIRER
loss on the investment in associate or joint venture FREEE)

recognised for the year.

Where the associate or joint venture uses accounting e B AR PTA®FT RN IERAK
policies other than those of the Group for like SERFABEEATREUR S RE
transactions and events in similar circumstances, A AE  BAREEARERE
adjustments are made, where necessary, to conform wmAERZEBERNT B RERRE
the associate or joint venture’s accounting policies to HVERE  UEZBENRHE
those of the Group when the associate or joint BRI G BEREAREEMAE
venture’s financial statements are used by the Group —%

in applying the equity method.

When the Group'’s share of losses in an associate or a EAEEELBE RTINS ENA
joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the BB B AR SE SR A LN B 2 N Rl sk
associate or joint ventures, the Group does not AERARIMERE  BRIEEEELE
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or A TE B TE B SR & A Alsk
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf BERNRNK  BAXEETEH
of the associate or joint venture. For this purpose, the HREE - UmE - NEEREB
Group's interest in the associate or joint venture is the ERAREERNANER RIBEE
carrying amount of the investment under the equity AT ERENKRERG  EREE
method together with the Group's long-term interests BRAEERZEE A AAHEER
that in substance form part of the Group’s net AR EFE—BONAEERE
investment in the associate or joint venture. W o
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.7 Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

2. EXRETHEER )

27 BEQRRAREERR ()

After the application of equity method, the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment
in its joint venture. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group determines whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in associate or joint
ventures is impaired. If such indications are identified,
the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
being the difference between the recoverable amount
(i.e. higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) of the associate or joint venture and its
carrying amount. In determining the value in use of
the investment, the Group estimates its share of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
expected to be generated by the associate or joint
venture, including cash flows arising from the
operations of the associate or joint venture and the
proceeds on ultimate disposal of the investment.
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2.8 Leases 28 HE
Definition of a lease and the Group as a HEZEZRAEBEERK
lessee A

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group
assesses whether the contract meets three key
evaluations which are whether:

° the contract contains an identified asset, which
is either explicitly identified in the contract or
implicitly specified by being identified at the
time the asset is made available to the Group;
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2.

74

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.8 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a

lessee (Continued)

o the Group has the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use,
considering its rights within the defined scope
of the contract; and

o the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use.
The Group assess whether it has the right to
direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is
used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease and non-lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an
estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives
received).
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2. ERGTBRER @)
2.8 HE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.8 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a HEZE&ZERAXEBEBA
lessee (Continued) A %)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a EREARBAZHENTERRR
lessee (Continued) (%)

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the
right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term unless
the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such
indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable payments based on an
index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will
be reduced for lease payments made and increased
for interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured
to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if
there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the
period on which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

AEBREREENEERK B H
EEAREEZERAFHEREE
HER AREERE) SR E
REEERTE BEAKEG
BTN ARSI ESMAE
AIFERI R o AN 5 B IR H 3R Rk (B B
KEFAEREEEZRE -

REEMBAEY  AEEKRE AR
XHHEENRZREFERER
B XWEREEFRSZHETIA
BEER - HMHRNETERFEE -
ARAARE 2 EERER R T
B3R -

AAEHERERAZHERAES
HEEERE (BRELDEERA)
AR RSB EESE - R H(E
REFEZ AT RIB RRES T EE
RERMNZEHEE -

Rytast 8% BERZRENEE
RERLD  WIREEREZNEK
AR o A RBRAE R E R AT 2
2T HMMEHEERBHRE
B AEFTEENE - LTEUR
RIE BB 2 A S E AN E
BN R E BN E LR ER
BRI

—EoEER EHEEEBREEAF /D



=

CYE e

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

e
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2. EXREHHEER#)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.8 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a

lessee (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of

modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already

reduced to zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial position,
right-of-use assets have been included in “property,

plant and equipment”.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included

in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.9 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual
right to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets

Except for those trade and bills receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component and
are measured at the transaction price in accordance
with HKFRS 15, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit
or loss.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

/8

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

— at amortised cost;
—  FVTPL; or

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI”).

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within finance costs or other income, net, except for
expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade and bills
receivables and other receivables, which is presented
as a separate item in profit or loss.

Trade and bills receivables and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2.10).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

2. EXRETHEER )
29 €@T A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables and other receivables
(Continued)

When there is any evidence indicating that the trade
and bills receivable balances become uncollectible, for
instance, when the debtors suffer from liquidation,
bankruptcy, having net liabilities or inadequate cash
flow, bad debts are recognised and the balances are
written off in that period against the corresponding
provision for ECL allowance that has previously been
made for these balances.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the
assets meet the following conditions:

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and
collect its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income, net in profit or loss. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
The Group’s trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and bank deposits and cash fall into this
category of financial instruments.

THEE (#)
SREENDERASH R (HF)

BESERSBERERZEURAM
W IR ()

A AR ERTE S R IA K
MW IR R N A Uk [El - 2245
ms EEHABAFE  BWE -
BERFREIBERIE S
RIEMR - M PEAREERE L
AR SRR ELNEREREER
B IR N

TREENRENE

EHERE

B IEK A SRR 6 & B E
HEMEERNE THGRNE - AIZE
EIREHP AN FT &

— ZEEREEMAKETH
BERBBEANRERE
MEBRATHE &

— SREEMNANKRRELN
REeREARRINEER
REEXSHONE -

RN EHEREK - AFBEEFRBER
MEBEIRBHNAFTE - ZF2 B
BENMBBAGT AR 0 E AU
AFBEAN -HEMRBAZEMTH
% - RIBRIR Al ZBE D&t - NEE
B 5 RNRIA R ERREE - R
WHRBARRITERAEREHBR
HESRTA-

—EomEER EhEEERaEan /9



1= 4 Bt 16

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

o

R

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

80

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Equity investments

Investments in securities held for trading were
classified as financial assets measured at FVTPL. Any
attributable transaction costs were recognised in
profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each reporting
period, the fair value was remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include bank loan,
lease liabilities, trade and other payables and amount
due to a joint venture.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable,
adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group
designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised costs using the
effective interest method.

All interest-related charges are included within
finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in
note 2.8.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (Continued)

Trade and other payables

They are initially recognised at fair value, and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including bank deposits and cash,
trade and bills receivables and other receivables).

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

— bank deposits and cash, trade and bills
receivables and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECL is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE = —MFE=F=+—HILFE

2. EXREFTHBEER#)
210 & MEERE (2)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTINUED)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables

For trade and bills receivables, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL and recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the end of
reporting period. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial
assets. Bills receivables are assessed individually. In
calculating the ECL of trade receivables, the Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at
amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE=—Z—WF=A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

2. EXREHHEER#)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 210 &€ MEERE (&)
Other financial assets measured at BEBEREAFENEMEH
amortised cost (Continued) BE (&)

HBmE  FhEEERREERE
NS ERATER

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration — SBMIEIE(WE) KA

in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default

EEFANERIBHNEE
C I

— EERBR®MINBTISERER
ER mEENE B
AMEEZNEMERKE

swap prices for the debtor; 0

— existing or forecast adverse changes in — HEHeEREBAERRE
regulatory business, financial, economic RIB TFEREE 55~ BT -
conditions or technological environment that BBEARAKBRRENIRE
are expected to cause a significant decrease in TR E Rk
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration — EBALEEENERLTE

in the operating results of the debtor. HEEEl -

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, T?ﬁtt?ﬁﬁz AR RNERE
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased RE BEHNE @Hﬂf&iﬁ% B
significantly since initial recognition when contractual Al E ?DﬁAﬁE ARG B R R #E
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the =0 B 3F$§%@ﬁé@ﬂ—f§%
Group has reasonable and supportable information ZERER o

that demonstrates otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTINUED)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at
amortised cost (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low
risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill
its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when (i)
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral held by
the Group); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of financial
assets measured at amortised cost are set out in note
27.2.

2.11 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays trade deposit before the delivery of goods at the
inception of a contract, until the revenue recognised
(see note 2.16) exceeds the amount of the deposit. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2.9).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE=—Z—WF=A=+—HIFE
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CoNnTINUED)
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out
in note 2.10.

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment
testing:

o Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary;

o Property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets)

Goodwill with indefinite useful life or those not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, irrespective of whether there is any
indication that they are impaired. All other assets are
tested for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CoNTINUED)
2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

2. EXREFTHBEER#)
213k EMEERE (&)

(Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating
unit Level. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from synergies of the related business combination
and represent the lowest level within the Group at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose and not be larger than an
operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are
credited initially to the carrying amount of goodwill.
Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to
the other assets in the cash generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods. In respect of other assets, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.14 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefits plan (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all
of its employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the year.
The Group’s obligations under these plans are limited
to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Defined benefit plan obligations
The Group has the following defined benefit plans:

LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined
benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in the current and prior
periods and discounting that amount. For LSP
obligation, the estimated amount of future benefits is
determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the
Group's MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees, which are deemed to be contribution
from the relevant employees.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.15 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise
from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CoNnTINUED)
2.16 Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sales of toys and
related products and provision of agency services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the
Group follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. ldentifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the
performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes
any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sales of toys and related products and
provision of agency services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE = —MFE=F=+—HILFE

2. EXRSFTHBEER#®)
2.16 B R (2)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.16 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of toys and related products

Revenue from sales of toys and related products is
recognised when control over a product is transferred
to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Sales of toys and related products
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the products.

Provision of agency services
Agency services income is recognised over time
because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.17 Translation of foreign currencies

2. EXRSFHHBEER#)
217 e E

92

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the
functional currency of the Group.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
during the year are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and
non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities.

In the consolidated financial statements, the results of
foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.18 Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the

Group if:

(a

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
2.18 Related parties (Continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

2.19 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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3.

N OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M BRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE = —MFE=F=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities, are described below.

3.1 Estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of its property,
plant and equipment based on the periods cover
which the assets are expected to be available for use.
The Group reviews annually their estimated useful
lives, based on factors that include asset utilisation,
the expected physical wear and tear, environmental
factors and anticipated use of the assets tempered by
related industry benchmark information. It is possible
that future results of operation could be materially
affected by changes in these estimates brought about
by changes in factors mentioned. A reduction in the
estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment would increase depreciation charges and
decrease the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment. At as 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment was
HK$20,573,000 (2023: HK$29,619,000) (note 11).
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mE M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T —NFE=A=+—HIEFE

3.

96

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
and bills receivables and other receivables by assessing
the ECL. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECL are based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the end of reporting period. As at 31 March 2024,
the aggregate carrying amounts of trade and bills
receivables and other receivables amounted to
HK$23,735,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$162,000) (2023: HK$25,720,000 (net of ECL
allowance of HK$239,000). Where the estimation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will affect the carrying amounts of trade and bills
receivables and other receivables and thus the
impairment loss in the period in which such estimate
is changed (note 15 and note 16).

Current and deferred income taxes

There are many transactions and events for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Significant judgement is
required from the Group in determining the provision
for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. As at 31 March
2024, the Group had current tax payable and current
tax recoverable of HK$260,000 (2023: HK$Nil) and
HK$1,424,000 (2023: HK$1,233,000), respectively.
The details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are
set out in note 23(b).
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3.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

3.4

3.5

Fair value of contingent consideration
receivable

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable
was determined by using valuation techniques. The
Group’s management uses its judgement to select a
variety of methods and make assumptions, including
the discount rates and estimation of future
performance. Changes in assumptions used could
materially affect the fair value of the balances and, as
a result, affect the Group’s financial condition and
results of operation. At 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of contingent consideration receivable
amounted to HK$2,100,000 (2023: HK$4,300,000)
(note 17).

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 2.13. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates about future
cash flows and discount rates. In the process of
estimating expected future cash flows, management
makes assumptions about future revenues and
profits. These assumptions relate to future events and
circumstances. The actual results may vary and may
cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of goodwill within the next financial year.
Determining the appropriate discount rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk
and for asset specific risk factors. Details of the
estimates of the recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units containing goodwill are disclosed in
note 12.
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mE M BRRIE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T —NFE=A=+—HIEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
4.1 Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are design,
marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys and
related products, and provision of agency services.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with the scope of HKFRS 15

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers which are recognised at a point in time
and over time by major products or service line is as
follows:

4. WKk 7 ERH &
4.1 Ui
ARENEIBED AR BH
5 HREETARARGE QA RIR
(AR IRTS o

BEBUBHREERF157 &
E ARy E Xt 2 & 7
PR — fEEs R 3 & — RS R iR
MEPAARAREIBEMIMRSE
REVEID T

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Types of goods or service Bm R ER
Sales of ODM toys to license holders  $4% ODMITE FHEFFHH A 90,316 114,835
Distribution of imported toys and 7 iH#E O T A M AB R E M@
related products 66,802 68,645
Sales of own licensed toys and HE BRIt A RIBHEE®
related products 59,072 49,099
Revenue of agency services related to  TF28 B 8RR I AR5 M 25
engineering projects 3,000 3,384
Total @t
219,190 235,963
Timing of revenue recognition o 228 R SR B
At a point in time A — {E B FE B 216,190 232,579
Over time R —EREER 3,000 3,384
Total et 219,190 235,963

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed in note
4.3.

The Group’s customers are primarily toys distributors
based in Japan. The percentage of revenue
contributed by the Group’s five largest customers for
the year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately 54% (2023: 65%).
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)
4.1 Revenue (Continued)

The Group primarily manages its business by three
(2023: three) divisions, namely sales of ODM toys,
sales of own licensed toys, and distribution of
imported toys. In a manner consistent with the way in
which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has identified three (2023:
three) reportable segments, which are sales of ODM
toys to license holders, distribution of imported toys
and related products, and sales of own licensed toys
and related products. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the reportable segments.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's senior executive management monitors the
results based on the revenue and expenses which are
allocated to the reportable segments with reference
to revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

Segment assets and segment liabilities is not reported
or used by the Group’s most senior executive
management.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T —NFE=A=+—HIEFE

date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
goods such that the above information does not
include information about revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for sales
of goods that had an original expected duration of
one year or less.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. WHERZHBHRE @)
(CONTINUED)
4.1 Revenue (Continued) 41 Wz (&)
Information regarding the Group's reportable BE_ZT-_NER=-T-_=F=H
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior =t—RLEEE ROBRERES
executive management for the purposes of resource HERBEIBMAEEZSTHRER
allocation and assessment of segment performance EREESEAEE ] ZEHDBHE
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is set BolEanT
out below:
Distribution of Sales of own licensed
imported toys and toys and related
Sales of ODM toys related products products Unallocated Total
AHENTA HEBRBINA
HEODMFTA REBER REBER FAE &3t
204 2003 204 2003 03 04 203 024 203
ZBCmE -TO=F ZFCME “To-F ZFCME “T--F ZBCME CT--F “BC@E CTCCF
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TAn  TER férx ThExr TEx FTEr  TEx  TEr  TEn  TEn

Revenue from exteral customers  JMEBEP K 0316 114835 66802 68645 59072 49099 3000 338 219190 235963
Inter-segment revenue AHENE - - 189 21919 43289 31,519 - - 65180 53438
Reportable segment revenue DEX: vlien 90316 114,835 88,693 90564 102,361 80,618 3,000 3384 284370 289,401
Reportable segment B Ok

(loss)profit (B5#8) /%7 (11500 (5,784) 6,026 9,981 3,564 1425 2,136 2716 4,576 8,338
Depreciation for the year FRFE 731 1,149 3,835 1,691 4,208 4182 - = 8,774 7,022
Reportable segment assets 2RI BEE
Non-current assets (other than ~ FEREVAE (SRTA

financial instruments), including: ~~ Bx5h) 48 -
— Interests in joint ventures —REERRMER - - - - - - - 3 - 3
— Interests in associates —RBEERANER - - - - - - A 18213 1A 18213
Additions to non-current seqment R I3RS 7 5

assets (other than financial EE(SRIAR

instruments and deferred tax BEHEEERM)

assets) during the year - 45 85 6,844 548 12,246 - - 633 19,135
Revenue expected to be recognised in the HEEANREEFHNEXN
future arising from contracts with EXHRARAEEEZY
customers in existence at the reporting W a

AEEDEAE AN BRSNS
1588 121 R A(TREAS A
WRWEAL A AR
E A EE N BRI E A G (R
EEIHERMA—FRER)E
TR EL A L8 REE A
%2 B



For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

4., RBERDIHE &)

(CONTINUED)
4.2 Reconciliations of reportable segment 4.2 1] 25 &b F ¥ AR
profit
2024 2023
—ED@mE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiBx FAT
Profit &l
Reportable segment profit derived RRAEBINBE P
from the Group’s external customers ] 2 &5 #05% A 2,440 5,622
Other income, net H fth W AJF R 1,837 651
Fair value changes of financial assets R AFEABZZ SBEE
at FVTPL — listed securities MATFEZS — EHESF (1,274) (1,895)
Fair value changes of financial assets ZAFEABRZ S@MEE
at FVTPL — contingent BWRAFEZE — EK
consideration receivable BR AR (2,200) 500
Share of loss of a joint venture Eh—EEE AR &R - -
Share of profit of associates JE (Bt & A B 2k A (1,041) 263
Finance costs =N (368) (234)
Unallocated P2l 2,136 2,716
Consolidated profit before taxation 454 K &% Bl ik A 1,530 7,623

4.3 Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographic location of the Group’s customers. The
geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the goods or services were

delivered.

43 WEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)
4.3 Geographic information (Continued)

4., RBERDIHE &)

43 HEER (&)

\Vig sl A

Revenue from external

customers

IEREF Wi
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT THET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (FTEH) 31,090 25,300
Japan SN 96,745 134,877
The United States of America ERBERE 24,266 17,180
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)  AZEARKEFE ([FE]) 40,823 31,144
Taiwan =0 10,839 12,371
South Korea B2 4,441 3,151
Italy =Wl 2,095 3,096
Others Hty 8,891 8,844
188,100 210,663
219,190 235,963

4.4 Information about major customers
Revenue from customers during the year contributing
over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows:

44 TEEFNEHR

FRERAEBRFZBI0%NEP

R U esFI BN TS

2024 2023

—EDlmFE 2 —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Customer A — sales of products BEFPA—HEEM 94,681 95,470
Customer B — sales of products EFB—HEEM (Note) (Fff&E) 28,384

Note: This customer did not contribute over 10% of total revenue
of the Group in 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—Z—_MF=F=+—HILFE

5. HAtl A FEE

2024 2023
1
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 2,190 507
Compensation income fHERA 230 140
Net exchange (loss)/gain EH (B8, WS FE (1,090) (2,083)
Freight charge income EBERA 281 316
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERAFEFABRZ
at FVTPL TRMEEZEE = (341)
Government grants (note (i) DS 43 Bh (B = () 100 998
Management fee income EEEWA - 952
Sundry income FMIEUA 126 162
1,837 651
Notes: B2
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised (i) HE_ZT-_WNE=A=+—HILFE K&

government grants of HK$100,000 (2023: HK$100,000) in respect
of SME Export Marketing Fund provided by the Hong Kong SAR
Government and government grants of HK$Nil (2023: HK$898,000)
relates to Employment Support Scheme and Retail Sector Subsidy
Scheme under Anti-epidemic Fund provided by the Hong Kong SAR

Government respectively.

25 Bl ?JL%.S/%%EBZW&E{#WP ANCEEZ
HeEE & MR BT B 100,0008 7T (=2
Z =4 : 100,000 7T) LA I B A5 5 [ BR AT
RENBEMENEESE TR E]
BRTEEENANBTRBTET (=
T — =4 : 898,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. BRELADNZEF

R A0 & A DB GEA) LT &R

1B
2024 2023
ZED@E T =F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
(a) Finance costs (a) @ERA
Interest on bank loan and overdrafts RITER KRBT E 184 102
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 184 132
368 234
(b) Staff costs (excluding directors’ (b) EIXK(FBEEEZE#MS)
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHMER 6,711 7,895
Contributions to defined TE BB FUR IRET B4 K
contributions retirement plans 303 307
7,014 8,202
() Otheritems (0 HMEE
Depreciation: e :
— Owned assets —HEEE 5,601 4,387
— Right-of-use assets — (FHEEE 3,173 2,635
Total depreciation HELRR 8,774 7,022
Auditor’s remuneration = S AN B 620 800
Provision of ECL allowance on trade B S EWHIATBBEEEE
receivables (note 15) B (Fe5E15) = 80
Reversal of provision of ECL B HRENFIEEHRES
allowance on trade receivable e R E (fsE15)
(note 15) (77) (19)
Provision of ECL allowance on H IR (= B A 18
other receivables (note 16) B (HsE16) - 157
Reversal of provision for inventories FERE 2 RE
(note 14(b)) (B3 14(b)) 252 -
Write-off of property, plant and WH Y - BB R
equipment (note 11) (BF&sE11) 905 358
Write down of inventories WO T E (M aE 14(b))
(note 14(b)) 9 _
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE = —MFE=F=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE IN THE 7. AR KA S HE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 53
FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) frEeEmkEMEEKZER AR
loss and other comprehensive income represents: 155 E
2024 2023
—E_ME —E =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Current tax — Hong Kong B — EARREH
profits tax
Provision for the year FNEE 952 1,971
(Over)/Under-provision in respect of @ FE GBEEEE)
prior years BETE (278) 56
674 2,027
Deferred tax EEBE
Origination and reversal of temporary E iz 2 7 FE 4 R # D
differences (note 23(b)) (B$3E23(b)) 370 (166)
1,044 1,861
The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2024 is bR S B —FE M B A R B ST R
calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated FHEEEREEN ZF_HF
assessable profits for the year, except for one BB GRBEERBFTFRNER
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying HmAMWI16.5% (ZF = = F :
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates 16.5%) 5T & o BIBEFS TR -
regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, & B 1% & §8 5 2,000,000 7% 7T % A
the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying entities #8.25% Wy B = #F » 2,000,000
are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above P TT A _E B A AIIE 16.5% FY B K
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for B o Eat i A R H) BB RIS %R
Hong Kong profits tax for this subsidiary was BEA—_Z _=FNHEREEGE
calculated at the same basis in 2023.
The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2024 has TN EEFEBNETREE 7T*+)32
also taken into account a reduction granted by the Ca ok S —
Hong Kong SAR Government of 100% of the tax :Eiﬁﬁifgﬁﬁﬂ’qﬁgﬁﬁlﬁﬁ
payable for the year of assessment 2022-23. The #100% - & B AAIARERS
eligible companies are entitled for the maximum MR 3,0008 T (ZF =4
reduction of HK$3,000 (2023: HK$10,000). 10,00087T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

e

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE IN THE 7. HEBBARR KA TS HH
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF X #)
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and by FTERAYSRZERAMRETENS
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: M EERAT -
2024 2023
—E-EF —_ET—=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Profit before taxation R 54 A g 7 1,530 7,623
Notional tax on profit before taxation, & 513 |4 & 51 -
calculated at the rates applicable to % #ARE R A & &Y
profits in the jurisdictions concerned 5 FI|iE F i R =+ & 252 1,258
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1~ A] F1 %% 53 S B i 75 52 22 1,393 1,404
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBWANT B E (485) (74)
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERARBAREBEN
not recognised MG E = 19
Tax effect of share of result FE(RESE & N B 2 A
of associates MG 2 172 (43)
Utilisation of tax losses previously EABTAREROBIEERE
not recognised (386) (564)
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 278 56
Tax effect of income tax FTEHEEN RS2
concessionary rate (165) (165)
Tax concession WG EE (15) (30)
Income tax expense Frigfif = 1,044 1,861
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

8. EEM=
RIBFEGEM EMR A - FF R R IEHE
3B3MMEE AR (WEEEFZER) R

PIZE288  EEMEBEWT ¢

follows:
Salaries,
allowances Discretionary ~ Retirement
Directors’  and benefits bonuses scheme
fees inkind  (note (viii))  contribution Total
gé.
2R B BARGHE
ESHe BWEN (& (vii) 5 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET TERT THET
2024 b 1k 2
Executive Directors HITEE
— Mr. Li Wai Keung —FRBEE
(Chief Executive Officer) (fTBaH) - 3,939 3,000 36 6,975
— Mr. To Hoi Pan —HEREE - 600 - 18 618
— Ms. Lee Kwai Fong —FEFRL - 541 60 18 619
Non-executive Directors FHITERE
— Mr. Wei Qing (note (v)) —RELE (W) 27 = = 1 28
—Mr. Chu Wai Tak (note (v))  — KEE&L4 (FizF (W) 14 = = 6 120
— Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael —Z8% %4 26 - - 1 27
Independent BYFHTEE
Non-executive Directors
—Ms. Chow Chiling Janice ~ — F#e &£ 132 - - 139
— Mr. Yu Pui Hang —RmELE 132 - - 139
— Mr. Tung Man (note (vi)) ~ — & 30504 (Bt (vi) 123 = = 129
554 5,080 3,060 100 8,794
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. EEM= )
Salaries,
allowances  Discretionary Retirement
Directors'’  and benefits bonuses scheme
fees inkind (note (viii) ~ contribution Total
gé -
2R BT RIRGHE
BB EmErl  (MaE(vii) 3K it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TAT TATL TAL TAL

2023 —BC-=%
Executive Directors HTEE
— Mr. Li Wai Keung —FRBEE

(Chief Executive Officer) (TBEH) - 3,579 3,000 36 6,615
— Mr. To Hoi Pan —ERLE = 975 = 18 993
— Ms. Lee Kwai Fong —FEFLT - 600 80 18 698

Non-executive Directors FHTEE

— Mr. Wei Qing —REEE 72 - - 4 76
— Mr. Chu Wai Tak —REEEE 114 - - 6 120
— Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael — 8% %4 72 - - 4 76
Independent BUFHTERE
Non-executive Directors
—Ms. Chow Chiling Janice ~ — A#sz+ 120 - - 6 126
— Mr. Yu Pui Hang —RmELE 120 - - 6 126
— Ms. Ren Hongyan (note (iil) — fE&L % &+ (M (i) 109 = = 6 115
— Ms. Kwok Wai Ling (note (iv))— S5 &+ (K5 (iv) 72 = = = 72
— Mr. Cheng Pak Lam — B RAMRIE A (P3E (i)
(note (ii)) 45 - - 2 47
724 5,154 3,080 106 9,064
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—Z—_MF=F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no
amount paid or payable by the Group to the directors or any of the
five highest paid individuals as set out in note 9 below as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. And, there was no arrangement under which a
director has waived or agreed to waive any emolument during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Mr. Cheng Pak Lam was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 August 2022 and resigned on 27
April 2023.

Ms. Ren Hongyan was resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 12 August 2022.

Ms. Kwok Wai Ling was resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 3 April 2023.

Mr. Wei Qing and Mr. Lee Ming Yeung Michael were resigned as a
non-executive director of the Company on 11 August 2023.

Mr. Tung Man was appointed as an independent non-executive
directors of the Company on 27 April 2023.

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase
of ordinary shares in the Company during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

Discretionary bonuses are determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company from time to time by reference to the
prevailing market conditions, the performance of the Company as
well as the individual performance.

8. EEME @

B -

@

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

— o

REBE_ZE-_NFR-_FT_=F=A=+—
ALFEE AEEVEREFNEMNAER
= EEA I (20 TS EE9 BTk 2 A< sk e A+
BETMRE  (EAMAREERNEE S kB
BHE - -BE REE-ZT-_NEER=-F
A=t HLEFEHEESHEK
REREEMME R -

BAMEER_T__FN\ATLBABEZE
BANRBUIIERTES IR _T==F
MA=+tHEE-

FAHLTR B —FN\A+-BEEX
RAVBFEHTES -

BERZIN -_T_=FMA=HREERR
BB IEMITES -

REEERFHBEENR T _=FN\A
T—HEEARRBNTES °

ENAER_T_=FHA-+LBEEEE
RRARBILFEMITES o

REBZE-_ZE-_NEFR-_FT_=F=A=+—
BIEFE - AN 5] & E 0] BB AR AR 5t 8 AT it
BEAARTREAR -

BBEEARARRFHNEZ S S THBEREH
MHER - AAREERBEAEEMETE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &= ==

“HE=ZA=t—HLFE

9. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
(2023: three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other two (2023: two) individuals are as follows:

9.

REFMAL

REZERFMALEF =2 (=F
Z=F =R BEEMHMNMES KE -
UTRHETME(ZE_=F :M8) A
THOZ AR

2024 2023
—EWE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other emoluments FehEMME 899 926
Discretionary bonuses B IEIEAL 80 200
Retirement scheme contributions RORET IR 36 36
1,015 1,162

The emoluments of the two (2023: two) individuals with the ME(CE_=ZF WB) & T AL

highest emoluments are within the following band: HEMEATEEZA

2024 2023
—E-NFE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
HK$Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 T I E 1,000,000 7% 7T 2 2

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

10. EREF

RRABHEAEANEBEERERENTRE
AT 8RR E

2024 2023
—E-EF —F-=

Profit for the year attribute to owners RATHEB ANEEFE R

of the Company (HK$'000) (%) 486 5,762
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ AR ESRERA T EETT

shares outstanding for basic earnings TESNE AR N4 15 2R

per share 1,192,307,692 1,174,394,099
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) SEREXRZEF (GBL) 0.04 0.49

There was no difference between basic and diluted earnings
per share as the Company did not have any dilutive
potential shares outstanding during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. Y BERRXE
Leasehold Office Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles Moulds Total
BF HE#E BAZERE RE A Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THIL THIL THIL THIL THL
At 1 April 2022 “E--EMNA-H
Cost AR 23,006 5,579 1,122 987 29,041 59,735
Accumulated depreciation  ZiHTE (11,617) 2,411) (789) (987) (27,196) (43,000)
Net book amount FREFE 11,389 3,168 333 - 1,845 16,735
Year ended HE-E-=%
31 March 2023 ZA=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount ~ EXNEREH(E 11,389 3,168 333 = 1,845 16,735
Additions NE 7,962 3433 375 1,980 5,385 19,135
Lease modification HEEE 1,129 = = = = 1,129
Write-off (Cost) g (K A) (1,635) (812) (44) (987) = (3,478)
Write-off (Accumulated WA (REIE)
depreciation) 1,635 472 26 987 - 3,120
Depreciation ik (2,993) (1,123) (227) (545) (2,134) (7,022)
Closing net book amount ~ FREREFE 17,487 5,138 463 1,435 5,096 29,619
At 31 March 2023 and R-ZE-=%£=A=+-H
1 April 2023 R-2-=£NA—-H
Cost A 30,462 8,200 1,453 1,980 34,426 76,521
Accumulated depreciation ~ EHTE (12,975) (3,062) (990) (545) (29,330) (46,902)
Net book amount EEFE 17,487 5,138 463 1,435 5,096 29,619
Year ended HEZ-Z-_NE
31 March 2024 ZA=t+-BHLEE
Opening net book amount ~ FEXEREF(E 17,487 5,138 463 1,435 5,096 29,619
Additions B 30 - 55 - 548 633
Lease modification HEZE - - - - - -
Write-off (Cost) i (K A) (6,099) (638) (98) - - (6,835)
Write-off (Accumulated WIE(REIE)
depreciation) 5,356 498 76 - - 5,930
Depreciation e (3,529) (1,324) (136) (594) (3,191) (8,774)
Closing net book amount ~ FREEEFE 13,245 3,674 360 841 2,453 20,573
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_ME=A=+-H
Cost A 24,393 1,562 1,410 1,980 34,974 70,319
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZFHHTE (11,148) (3,888) (1,050) (1,139) (32,521) (49,746)
Net book amount EmFE 13,245 3,674 360 841 2,453 20,573

Note: At 31 March 2024, the Group's buildings which used by Mr. Li Wai
Keung (as a director’s quarter) with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$5,716,000 (2023: HK$5,892,000) were mortgaged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 21).

— = —

s

M RZE-_mWE=A=+—0 LKEEA
5,716,000 7T (== = =4 : 5,892,000 /& 7T)
WAEEREF (RFEBEEREEEES)
BFi%i8 - WERAEEERMRTRE (H
5$21) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. Y BERSZEE
(CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, included in the net carrying RZE—MFRZT_=F=A=1+—
amount of property, plant and equipment are right-of-use B st AME BERERENRDRE
assets as follows: REABEEELDT ¢
HK$'000
FHET
Buildings carried at cost BRI 2 BF
At 1 April 2022 R-E-_-_FMNA—H 831
Addition NE 7,962
Lease modification HEEE 1,129
Write-off (Cost) 38 (A AR) (1,635)
Write-off (Accumulated depreciation) W (RETITE) 1,635
Depreciation for the year FRITE (2,635)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-EBE-_=5=A=+—-HK
—E-_=FW™A—H 7,287
Addition = 30
Write-off (Cost) 3 (FCAR) (6,099)
Write-off (Accumulated depreciation) WoH (2T E) 5,356
Depreciation for the year FRPTE (3,173)
At 31 March 2024 R-BE-_ME=A=+—H 3,401
The details in relation to these leases are set out in note 22. EBEZSHENIBENME22 -
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12.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

GOODWILL

The major changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill
result from the acquisition of Forever Profits Development
Limited. The net carrying amount of goodwill can be
analysed as follows:

IOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRNE

“HE=A=t—HLFE

12. &

EEEmMENEAEZH THRBEE R
BHRAEBRLAGIMN - HERERmFERN D
T

2024 2023

= e L
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
At 1 April R A—HR 5,378 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B — [ B B A &) - 5,378
Impairment VERE] = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 5,378 5,378

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the cash-
generating unit of revenue of agency services related to
engineering projects, which is included in the unallocated
segment for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was
determined based on a value-in-use calculation with
reference to a professional valuation performed by Ravia
Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professionally qualified valuer, as at 31 March 2023. The
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering a five-year
period with the estimated free cash flow ranged from
HK$507,000 to HK$2,573,000 and terminate terminal free
cash flow of HK$179,000 (2023: free cash flow ranged
from negative HK$121,000 to HK$2,632,000 and terminal
free cash flow of HK$2,013,000). Cash flows beyond the
projection period are extrapolated using an estimated
growth rate of 2.00% (2023: 2.77%). The pre-tax rate
used to discount the forecast cash flows is 19.55% (2023:
19.22%).

HEEmMESRE LIRE B HERIER
BWENREELESEN  Ht ABEC
T EE&_EE:—E:HE—I——EIU:
FENRDBEDEL

R-ZEBE-_=F=ZA=+—H ReEL
BAMAIKESENLREBYEELSE
BEEMITHRLRRTEBAERA A
ETHNEXGHEREFEREBTEET -
ZAEFEREREREIEN R FEHY
BHEENESRERA  HitEHES
it 29 F-507,000 7 JT & 2,573,000 7 7T
LEHBEBBEEMREAF179,0008 T
(ZEZ=F: 6B RENTAE
121,000% 7T £ 2,632,000 7t M & R B
HIREREAE2,013,00087T) - BiETE
AFAR IR &m0 A A EH g & %E2.00%
TR =F277%)HE-TEARS
MEMAEIRER 51955% (T - =4
19.22%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

13. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 13. REIEDNRREELATINERS
VENTURES

(a) Interests in joint ventures (a) REEQATMRES
2024 2023
—BomNE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FETT
Cost of investments in joint ventures R4 & A Bl % & KA 3,006 3,006
Share of post-acquisition loss and ERKEEBEEREMER
other comprehensive expense, 2 (kR B AR 2
net of dividends received (3,003) (3,003)
Disposal of investment in a joint venture HER A E R a MK E (3) =
- 3
Amount due to a joint venture B —ME46 B RARIFIE - 3
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had RZTEZWMFEFR=ZT=_=F=H
interests in the following joint ventures, all of which =+—B XEERUATEERT
are considered not individually material to the Group: PR ZEARHERAE
BHAEBEMS W AERK
Form of Place of
business incorporation  Particulars of issued
Name of joint venture structure and business  and paid up capital % of interest held Principal activity
AR L BRTR
RENRER EBgERrS REXEBE  ARRAFEE Jiig=d $ 3Rl TEXH
2024 2023
ZE-ME —T-=F
Grand Amuse Development  Incorporated Hong Kong HK$10,000 30% 30% Manufacturing and sale of
Limited (“Grand Amuse") productive products
(including medical face
masks, infrared
thermometer,
disinfectant spray,
protective clothing, etc.)
in Hong Kong and the
PRC markets
REERBRDA a7V & 10,0007 7T BB RFETSHER
(T&m@)) HEMHEER(BE

BAOE - MM
FHE  HEEE

mERE)
Gene Life Company Limited  Incorporated Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 30% Dormant
("Gene Life")
Gene Life Company Limited ~ #EfBX 32 B 10,0007 7T W RER
(T Gene Life)
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13.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT

VENTURES (conTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

Grand Amuse and Gene Life are jointly owned by
Amuse Luck Limited and Grand View Protective
Products Limited and Amuse Luck Limited and Grand
View Bio Tech Limited respectively, for the production
and sale of protective products in Hong Kong and the
PRC markets. They are classified as joint ventures as
its significant operational and financial decisions
require unanimous consent of both shareholders.

These joint ventures had been accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using equity
method.

The Group has not incurred any contingent liabilities
or other commitments relating to its investments in
joint ventures.

As at 31 March 2024, the accumulated unrecognised
loss of Grand Amuse amounted to approximately
HK$2,403,000 (2023: HK$680,000).

On 24 April 2023, Amuse Luck Limited agreed to sell
all Gene Life Company Limited shares to a Vendor, an
individual third party, at the consideration of
HK$3,000 and settled the amount due to a joint
venture. No gain or loss from the disposal of the
interest of Gene Life.

S TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R

“HE=A=t—HLFE

13. REFZERAIREE QAN ES

(&)
(a)

REBELTIWER (&)

BE1G E4 Gene Life J5 9 BB LT B R
NRIREREARER AR L
BEBERARREBEDEFER
AEIER%EE REBRTEMS
EENMEEREER - BEQRH
DEAARERR ABHERKS
MR EBERURE—HAE -

ZELSERRERARDENGS
B TS sk R A AR ©

AEBRERAERRNKREL &
EEEARAREREMASE

RZEBE-_WWF=A=+—8 " EAE
K 25T K R E 18 & 492,403,000
BT (ZZ = =4 :680,000/87C) °

RZE-_=FWA=-+WmA BT
B R AR E AR E 3,000 % TR
BEH (BUFE=7) HEZE Gene
Life Company Limited &7 @ I 455
ER—HEERARIRE HE
Gene Life #2330 & U 25 ok B5 98 ©

Interests in associates (b) REZEQATHNER
2024 2023
—EDWmE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 April KU A—H 18,213
Cost of investments in associates Bt N R E R AR - 17,950
Share of post-acquisition profits and  fE{H B A 1% &)= 51| & E b
other comprehensive income, FEHNE - BER RS
net of dividends received (1,041) 263
At 31 March R=A=+—8” 17,172 18,213
—z-mesn mreEzrsrazn 115
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &= —

13.

EoMFE=A=+—HIFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates (Continued)

The following list contains only the particulars of
associates, all of which are unlisted corporate entities
whose quoted market prices are not available, which
in the opinion of the directors principally affected the
results or net assets of the group as at 31 March
2024 and 2023.

(b)

Country/place of

Particulars of

13. REBMERNARSEQARANESR

(%)
(b) MEE QTR (&)
TREFINESR/EIEFELE

ER—T_MFR_T_=F= )EJ
T —BHZERREEFEIHE

NG
AR

REMERNBHR/IL
P WEMIZRE

incorporation issued and
Name of associate and business paid up capital % of interest held Principal activity
AR 3L R BRIR
L NCEE EEEAR WY BHERAFEE FisEsEa ot TEXEB
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
M.I.P. International Limited Hong Kong HK$9,999 45% 45%  Information technology
development (Note (i)
BERBRARAR BB 9,999/ 7T BB ER (W)
DongYiQuan Network British Virgin Islands  Issued and fully paid 30% 30% Smart health care
Technology Co., Ltd USD50,000 development (Note (i)
DongYiQuan Network RBERRES BEBEIRAR BERRERER
Technology Co., Ltd 50,0003 7T (PH#EGi))
Notes: B 5

@)

(ii)

M.I.P. International Limited, a leading provider of
infrastructure solution and pioneer in information technology
industry in Hong Kong, is a strategic partner for the Group's
growth in the IT market in Hong Kong through its expertise.

DongYiQuan Network Technology Co., Limited is a high-tech
enterprise focusing on the development and application of
smart health care industry solutions. It is a strategic partner of
the Group’s growth in the smart health care market in the

PRC through its expertise.

Set out below are the summarised financial information of
each of the material associate which are accounted for using

the equity method:

M.LP. International Limited

(@) BLEBERRFR/EERLMETR
RIEIEIRTT ER LR R A ARHRAT R

B 5 B8

BREASEABSAKER

BRAMEHIM IS ERMNBIEBH -

(ii) DongYiQuan Network Technology Co.,
Limited B —REFTRHABERERAEE

e

BITEBRRD RO S RME

X HBREAFXENBNAAEEAR
RS SRR TSRS o

T X# 6 A mE AR & E AR

BRAINMBERBE

DongYiQuan Network

EZEBRERAR Technology Co., Limited
2024 2023 2024 2023
b 11 3 —E-=F —E-NE s
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHIT FEx FHIT
Current assets mMENEE 1,430 3,001 8,631 10,175
Non-current assets FERBEE 560 328 - 2,498
Current liabilities mENAE (490) (2,308) (930) (729)
Non-current liabilities FERBAE - - (1,030) (1,084)
Net assets BEFE 1,500 1,021 6,671 10,860
Revenue EEIRA 12,595 3,333 940 980
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (EiE) 479 653 (4,189) (104)
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13. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

VENTURES (conTINUED)

(b)

Interests in associates (Continued)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of each of the
investments in M.I.P. International Limited and
DongYiQuan Network Technology Co., Limited is set
out below:

13. RBEERARESELRANESR

(%)

(b) REtEATNHER (&)
PR BERMERNBEERERE
[ A 7] )2 DongYiQuan Network
Technology Co., Limited 8] & B &
FREEREERSETINT

M.L.P. International
Limited DongYiQuan Network
ZERARDA Technology Co., Limited

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoNE T = —E-WE —T—-=
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHET FHExT FET
Total net assets of BN EEE
associates R EERE 1,500 1,021 6,671 10,860
Proportion of ownership 2S5 [ AT 5 #E 5 4
interests held by Group 1 25 Lt 51 45% 45% 30% 30%
Goodwill EES 7,785 7,785 6,711 6,711
Carrying amount of the 4R & B ISR &+
interests in associates N /N
in the consolidated w2 BREE
financial statements 8,460 8,244 8,712 9,969

The Group has not incurred any contingent liabilities
or other commitments relating to its investments in
associates.

AEBESEAENBEAR ZRE
EEEAIRAREREAMASE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

14. INVENTORIES 14. 7&
(a) ReaBBRRERrEEaE

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

2024 2023

—EomE =%

HK$°000 HK$/000

FB T T T

Merchandise held for sale FEHEN M 2,392 1,521

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense and included in the profit or loss is as

(b) mRRAXLFABRENTFESHE

DHTEFIET

follows:
2024 2023
—E-NF T =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Carrying amount of inventories sold B &F & FHEE 181,352 190,227
Write down of inventories FEMOR 9 =
Provision for inventories GFERE 252 =
181,613 190,227
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

15. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

ma JH%#E%%MT‘I

“HE=A=t—HLFE

15. EZEBURERERERE

2024 2023

e 1

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT T

Trade receivables — gross B 5 a%E 21,897 13,378
Bills receivables — gross fEW IR B 5E - =
21,897 13,378

Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEBERE (5) (82)
Trade and bills receivables — net B 5 WG IE R E R E R F R 21,892 13,296

Ageing analysis
Details of the ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of
ECL allowance), based on the invoice date (approximate to
revenue recognition date), as of the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

RRR AT

RBEPRBEEZDH (KRR
B HIART) B B 5 UG (FNBRFEHIE
EEEBRE) REDNFRBAT :

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

Trade receivables B S EWRIE
Less than 30 days A 30H 8,673 11,128
31 to 60 days 31£260H 1,978 1,014
61 to 90 days 61£90H 8,350 1,154
Over 90 days B 90 H 2,891 =
21,892 13,296

Trade debtors are due within 0 to 60 days from the date of
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and
credit risk arising from trade debtors are set out in note
27.2.

EZREEENRERAHES0E60H
NI - FRAKEEERRMNES R

WERREERBRNEZHI5

27.2 °

£ 9N
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

15. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

16.

(CONTINUED)

The movement in the ECL allowance on trade and bills

receivables is as follows:

15.

ESEWFERERERE #)

B 5 e g R 8 M A T A1 R
REHBHNT

2024 2023
—EDWmFE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
At the beginning of the year REA) 82 21
ECL allowance recognised ERBHEEBERE - 80
Reversal of ECL allowance recognised EERBREESERERD (77) (19)
At the end of the year RER 5 82
OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. Hfth B RRIA
2024 2023
ZED@E T o=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Other receivables — gross Hh fE W SRR B R 583 10,701
Less: ECL allowance W REEEEERRE (157) (157)
Other receivables — net H{th fE U FRIEE B 426 10,544
Trade deposits =k sn 35,361 31,293
Rental deposits ek 1,231 1,458
Other deposits Bz 186 422
Prepayments BT FE 9,044 2,003
45,822 35,176
46,248 45,720
Less: Portion due over one year included 8 : 5t AFERENEEIE T HY
under non-current assets —F &R B EE D (623) (1,285)
45,625 44,435

Apart from the portion due over one year included under
non-current assets, all of the prepayments, deposits and
other receivables are expected to be recovered or

recognised as expenses within one year.
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16.

17.

| .;’.,'::;” Al STA
B 7% 3R

ma =M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

OTHER RECEIVABLES (cONTINUED)

The movement in the ECL allowance on other receivables is

16. HMEWRIE (&)
H i pE R B TEE S S S IB RE 8

as follows: LU
2024 2023
—BImE T o=F
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
At the beginning of the year REA) 157 -
ECL allowance recognised ERAEREEBEERE - 157
At the end of the year RE R 157 157

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

17. RAVEFABSEZERMEE

2024 2023
—EDNFE T _=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER T
Current portion B D
Listed securities: &S
Equity securities — Hong Kong BAZFES —BF 1,907 3,358
Contingent consideration receivable FEW S AR AE 2,100 2,395
4,007 5,753
Non-current portion FREBD
Contingent consideration receivable JE U Bk SRR (B - 1,905

The fair value of the Group’s investments in listed securities
and contingent consideration receivable have been
measured as described in note 27.7.

AREEREMEFKE MEKLARE
MAFHERETE - FIRHNME27.7
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE=—Z—WF=A=+—HIFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
Contingent consideration receivable represents the profit
guarantee given by the vendor to the Group in relation to
the acquisition of Forever Profits Development Limited
(“Forever Profits”). Contingent consideration receivable has
been designated as financial assets at FVTPL upon initial
recognition and is measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The movement of the fair value of
contingent consideration receivable is as follow:

17. BAFEFTAEBRZZEMEE

(4)
BREARBEE S HRRBERERES
RO (ERD AREER ORI
© B AR B A 1 45 B RS 4
BIRATEN RS2 SRAE  B1
BEMREATEHE - BERARE
MATESHNT :

HK$°000

FTERT

At 1 April 2022 R-ZT - —FMAF—H =

Arising from acquisition EXBWEEE 3,800

Change in fair value NTEEZE 500
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZBE-_=F=ZA=1+—HK

—E-=FMA—H 4,300

Change in fair value N EEE (2,200)

At 31 March 2024 R-ZF-_WMFE=A=+—H 2,100

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in respect of
the acquisition of Forever Profits, the vendor irrevocably
and unconditionally guarantees to the Group that the net
profit after tax from 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2025 is
HK$2,500,000 (the “Guaranteed Sum”) per year (the “Profit
Guarantee”).
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17.

18.

- CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EMEHRERMNEE

“HE=A=t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

In case the Profit Guarantee is not fulfilled for the
corresponding periods, the vendor shall pay of the
difference between the Guaranteed Sum and the net profit
after tax of Forever Profits to the Group. Accordingly, the
Group recognised contingent consideration receivable at
the acquisition date.

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable as
at the acquisition date and 31 March 2024 is determined
based on the valuation conducted by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited, an independent firm of professionally
qualified valuer, by using the discounted cash flow
approach and a loss arising in fair value change of
approximately HK$2,200,000 (2023: gain HK$500,000)

17.

BOVFESFARSZEHMEE
(#)

1790 8 4R B A A PR B P K s B - B
ARAEEXHRESHRE BOBH
AT 2RI R - Bt A EER
7 E SRR ARE -

REREE—E_ME=A=+—08 -
FEM S AREBHORFEETIRIBEB L B
AEREEMITIHRERETIEZANER
ARFERAMERSREFETHHEE
ECMAFEEHEENEELY
2,200,000 T (ZE2EZ=%F : =
500,000/ 70) EREHE T _WF = A

was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or =t HLEFENGFEERKEMEE
loss and other comprehensive income during the year WS RIER ©
ended 31 March 2024.
BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH 18. RITEFERRERE
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: () BERRLEEYERE -
2024 2023
—ED@E T -o=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERS 102,696 133,555
Cash and cash equivalents in the GEREeRERMNEAE K
consolidated cash flow statement REeEEY 23,514 116,495
Bank deposits with original maturities R ZEIH B AiBiE = 8 A K
over three months SRITTER 79,182 17,060
102,696 133,555
—TomasR ERsEERERAT 123
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T —NFE=A=+—HIEFE

18. BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH (conTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to
cash generated from operations:

18. (RITERRBEE &)
(b) BRBABANEKLHFBRS

2024 2023
—E-_ME —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Profit before taxation FR B A& A 1,530 7,623
Adjustments for: AT & IE TR -
Depreciation e 8,774 7,022
Interest income from bank deposits #8217 1F 2 K B4 A (2,190) (507)
Interest on bank loan IRITERFIE 184 102
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 184 132
Loss on disposal of financial assets HEERAFEFABRZ
at FVTPL PRMEEEE - 341
Fair value changes of financial assets & AF{EFF Az Z
at FVTPL — listed securities ERMEENATEESD
— FWES 1,274 1,895
Fair value changes on financial BAFTEFABR ISR
assets at FVTPL — contingent BERNANFEZE
consideration receivable — U ARE 2,200 (500)
Provision of ECL allowance on B RWGEEREE
trade receivables EEREE - 80
Reversal of provision of ECL B RWHIBEREE
allowance on trade receivables EEEERD (77) (19)
Provision of ECL allowance on HEMEWFIETEBEER
other receivables e - 157
Write down of inventories WoRFE 9 =
Provision of inventories GFEEE 252 =
Write-off of property, WY - BB KR
plant and equipment 905 358
Share of profit of associates JE (Rt & N B2 5 A 1,041 (263)
Share of loss of a joint venture Bh—HaBERRZEE - =
14,086 16,421
Changes in working capital: EESEE
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FE (gm), Smd (1,132) 1,181
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 5 JfE U 5k 18 }% & UL
SEREM (8,519) (5,773)
Increase in other receivables A & U SR IE 38 AN (528) (7,337)
Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets %A FE{EEF Az 2
at FVTPL SREERD (M) 177 (1,729)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and B 5 N H MR FRIA
other payables R4,/ AN (9,636) 11,372
Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERD (21,989) (3,486)
Cash (used in)/generated from
operations B (i) /i8R (27,541) 10,649
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EMEHRERMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

18. BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

18. IRITERREREE#®)
(0 REIHFELSBENYE

TRHALAEEREETHAELR
BENEY (BRAS KRS E
B BMETHMELEERRE
MEBUARKBASRELLIHRA
SEGERERERDPERKER
BAPNRSRENEIE -

Lease liabilities Bank loan Total
HEEE BTER w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET TET
At 1 April 2022 R-E--fWNA-AH 903 3,327 4,230
Changes from financing RERSRELY:
cash flows:
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (2,369) = (2,369)
Repayment of bank loan BEETER = (140) (140)
Interest paid EFE (132) (102) (234)
Total changes from financing HELEREZDET
Ueshflows @son ) (2,743)
Other changes: Hitt 25
Entering into new lease AINHHAE 7,962 = 7,962
Interest on bank loan (note 6(a))  RITEZFI & (K5 6(a) = 102 102
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) & & &H S (H:E6(a)) 132 = 132
Lease modification HEE 1,129 = 1,129
Totelotherchanges ALER:@E® B 02 93
At 31 March 2023 and R-Z-=%=R=t+-H
1 April 2023 K=E-=FWmA—H 7,625 3,187 10,812
Changes from financing RERSRELY:
cash flows:
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaE (3,790) = (3,790)
Repayment of bank loan BEETER = (112) (112)
Interest paid EAFE (184) (184) (368)
Total changes from financing RERERELHERE
Ceshflows ] o4 @6 (4.270)
Other changes: Hitt 25
Interest on bank loan (note 6(a))  RITEHFI & (KiiE6(a) = 184 184
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) & & EFI & (K5 6(a) 184 = 184
Toelotherchanges AME®Ee® . LSS 368
At 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=B=+—H 3,835 3,075 6,910
—TomEey @EHeERRERAT 125
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

N |

19. ESZ R EMENRIE

2024 2023

—EDlmFE T =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Trade payables B S e FIE 8,252 17,150
Other payables and accrued expenses E e A R BRI

(note) (BfH3E) 4,560 5,298

12,812 22,448

Note: Other payables and accrued expenses mainly included accrued

salaries, accrued professional fee and accrued license fee as at 31
March 2024 of approximately HK$2,075,000, HK$738,000 and
HK$1,573,000 (2023: HK$2,096,000, HK$1,091,000 and

HK$629,000) respectively.

Ageing analysis

The Group was granted by its suppliers with credit periods
ranging from 30-60 days. At the end of the reporting
period, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the

invoice date, is as follows:

Misk: EtbENREREFARASIEZERER-Z
—HE=A=t+-—BZEFEFS  EitEE
B R ET T B R 9 54 7%42,075,000 7T
738,000 7T }.1,573,00038 7T (Z B = =4 :
2,096,000 7T ~ 1,091,000 7t % 629,000 %

JT) °

AR#R 2 4

AEBEEHERSG TN F30E60H
MEEH REBESHR REEZAH
B BN KBREDTAT :

2024 2023

—EoNFE —F-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FET

Less than 30 days LR 30H 745 6,952
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,930 4,556
61 to 90 days 61290H 2,300 1,045
Over 90 days but within one year @0 B ER—F KA 735 4,597
Over one year HBIA—F 1,542 =
8,252 17,150
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20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

%’F JH%#E%%MT‘I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE = —MFE=F=+—HILFE

20. EHAEE

2024 2023
—BoNE —_To=%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contract liabilities arising from deposits 2K A& s & It B M B R E M A
received from sales of toys and related B WRIEESEL A HBE
products 5,243 27,232

Receiving a trade deposit by the Group before the delivery
of goods gives rise to contract liabilities at the inception of
a contract, until the revenue recognised exceeds the
amount of the deposit. The amount of deposit is negotiated
on a case by case basis with customers.

All contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year.

Revenue amounting to HK$27,232,000 (2023:
HK$30,718,000) recognised during the year ended 31
March 2024 relates to contract liabilities outstanding at the
beginning of the reporting period.

The significant decrease of contract liabilities as at 31
March 2024 is mainly due to the decrease in the deposits
received as a result of certain sales orders have been
delivered before the year end date.

HAKERERIMAKRE HES
HEBERNANREREELANEAE
EECHRARGSBHRENER - RE
MERRENBRETPER -

IAGHMABREN —FARER SRS

@zi_7 ME=ZA=+—HIFER
RHUEE 27,232,000 T (Z B =4 :
mmsww&ﬂﬁ%ﬁiﬁmﬁﬁﬁu
HEEMEE -

BHEER-_ZE-_MF=ZA=+—HBXK
R HEEARETHEITECR
FRBHRIRN - BEFTREREIZ SR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &= =&

ZE=

21. BANK LOAN

H=t+—HLFE

21. RITER

2024 2023
—BoQmE  —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Portion of mortgage loan from AR —FANEENRITIZBG
bank repayable within 1 year BEREHH 119 109
Portion of mortgage loan from bank due 7B —4F 14 B Hi(E 2 A RTT
for repayment after 1 year which RIBERE D - REKREXK
contains a repayable on demand clause {238 &5
— after 1 year but within 2 years — —FREMFEA 126 114
— after 2 years but within 5 years — MEREBERFA 754 357
— after 5 years — hF#& 2,076 2,607
2,956 3,078
Total bank loan IRITE AR 3,075 3,187

At 31 March 2024, the bank loan is secured by mortgages
over buildings with an aggregate carrying value of
HK$5,716,000 (2023: HK$5,892,000) (note 11).

The interest rates are principally on a floating rate basis and

range from 3.95% to 6.84% (2023:

1.50% to 6.04%) per

annum during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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LEASE LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

e R

“HE=A=t—HLFE

22. HESE

The following table shows the remaining contractual

TRIINAEERERBENHR T AL

maturities of the Group's lease liabilities: HE R
2024 2023
ZEDNFE T =F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Total minimum lease payments: REAENRERE
Due within one year R —F A EH 2,665 3,937
Due in the second to fifth years RE_EZFRHFDH 1,267 3,975
3,932 7,912
Future finance charges on lease liabilities f& & &M AR FE 2 (97) (287)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 3,835 7,625
Present value of minimum lease payments: &% & ZIR(E
Due within one year R—FAEH 2,582 3,748
Due in the second to fifth years RE-ZFRFIH 1,253 3,877
Due after the fifth years REBERFEEH - =
3,835 7,625
Less: Portion due within one year W ETARBAEBEE TR
included under current liabilities —ERNBEZLH (3,835) (3,748)
Portion due after one year included FFAEREBBEE TR
under non-current liabilities —F 1R B EAE o - 3,877

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, no lease liabilities are
effectively secured by the related underlying assets as the
rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor in
the event of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash
outflows for the leases are HK$3,974,000 (2023:

HK$3,322,000).

R-FE-_WNER_F_=ZF=A=+—
B YEHEREER EARBEERF
ER RARWEAREERER H
EEEMNENKEER THBEA -

REBE-F

“HEZA=+—BLFE"

FAEMIR SR 2% 53,974,000 7T
ZZE =4 3,322,000 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

22. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 22. HEEE @

Details of the lease activities HEFEFE

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group has entered into R-E_NFER T -_=F=A=1+—

the following leases for office and retail shops. B AEEEFUUTHAEZRTEE

WEE -
Financial statements Range of

Types of items of right-of-use remaining

right-of-use assets assets included in Number of leases lease term Particulars

e RAAEAEEE

EESER W HmKRIER HE#E BT ER H#15

Office Buildings in “property,  1(2023: 2) 1-2 years e No option to renew the
plant and equipment” (2022: 0.1 year) lease after the end of the

contract

b /N KZE =& A 1(ZEZ=F:2) 1225 (2T =% B RERE W B RE
BETEF 0.1%F)

Retail shops Buildings in “property, 2 (2023: 3) 1-2 years e No option to renew the
plant and equipment” (2022: 0.1-0.3 years) lease after the end of the

contract

TEER KZE =& A 2(ZF==F:3) 1225 (=T ==F: B RERE W B RE

BT EF 0.120.3%) e Two of the contracts

contain turnover rent,
which will be paid if the
monthly gross sales
turnover exceeds the
monthly basic rent of
each calendar month
ZEANPEMMHEE
EEFEE EEAR
HELERBATEE
ROEAEARES -
FIAZ AT
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE=—Z—_MF=F=+—HILFE

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23. ZEMBMRRROTEHR
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) “ZREMBHARRKEENEBIESS
statement of financial position
represents:
2024 2023
—EBomE —FT-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FAET
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax &R ZE B A58 &
for the year 952 1,190
Provisional profits tax paid ERERAMSH (2,116) (2,423)
(1,164) (1,233)
Representing: (-
Current tax recoverable A Uy =] BN HA R 18 (1,424) (1,233)
Current tax payable JE BN ER T IR 260 -
(1.164) (1,233)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised:
The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the years ended

D 1 ™

23. ZEMBRRKROFABH @

(b) ERAELEHBEE EE
REE-—Z-_NMFR-_T_=F=
A=+—RHLEFE KEVBKRT
RNEBRELEHE (BE)AE

31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follows: o REBHWOT :

Depreciation
allowances
in excess of

related
depreciation
mEREBRY
HEETE
HK$'000
T
Deferred tax arising from: EEFLIRIR -
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FWMA—H (247)
Credited to profit or loss (note 7(a)) R18 z=EFA (K EE 7(a)) (166)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—HBK
—E-=FpmA—H (413)
Credited to profit or loss (note 7(a)) RIBZRET A (Mi3E7(@)) 370
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MFE=H=+—H (43)
2024 2023
—EIWE —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Representing: (A
Deferred tax assets REFRIEEE (99) (646)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 56 233
(43) (413)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

23.

HmEMBRRARWAER &)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () MABRNWEEHRIEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in BRI 2 15 &M GETIE - &
note 2.15, the Group has not recognised deferred tax S E R R TR E 18 1,642,000
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of Bt (ZZT = =4 :5,322,000/%87C)
HK$ 1,642,000 (2023: HK$5,322,000) as it is not HRECERBERE  ARNBEN
probable that future taxable profits against which the BEERRERBESRRERT R
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant AN AT AR 2 BE RS 4R K 65 A9 AT g M1
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire RN RBRATPE  ZREEHED
under current tax legislation. g Em e
24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 24. EX R f#E
24.1 Movements in components of equity 201 BB BEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REEGZERREED B EY) & H
balances of each component of the Group's REBRHHERIANGEERZ D
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated Fo ANAREREREIT D NFEIE
statement of changes in equity. Details of the FROEBFFIFHN T :
changes in the Company'’s individual components of
equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
Retained
profits/
Share Share Merger (Accumulated
capital premium reserve loss) Total
REEBF/
R R 15 5E AftEE  (REER) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FNA—A
Eopeeds 10,000 66,991 155 (40,175) 36,971
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEREZERLESE
expense for the year - - - (534) (534)
Issue of share capital (note 24.2(ii)) 4TS (Ff5E 24.2(ii)) 1,923 8,077 - = 10,000
At 31 March 2023 and WZBZ=f=ZfA=+—H
1 April 2023 R-E-=4mMA—H
Eofen 11,923 75,068 155 (40,709) 46,437
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZEREE
expense for the year - - - (100) (100)
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-ME=A=+-H 11,923 75,068 155 (40,809) 46,337
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24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

“HE=ZA=t—HLFE

24. EXRK #E @)

24.2 Share capital 24.2 IR
Number of
shares Amount
RAEAE k)
HK$'000
AT
Authorised ordinary shares of ﬁﬂiﬁ{ao.m BT
HK$0.01 each: EEEE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 75/\\\_ = __EE H—A -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —T=F=HA=+—H"
ZE=FMA—HK
“E-WF=A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued of shares: BITRG :
At 1 April 2022 RZEZ=—_FMHA—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issue of share capital (note (ii)) TR A (BT = (i) 192,307,692 1,923
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 R-_E-_=F=ZA=+—8"
and 31 March 2024 —E-=FPA—BK
—ECEF=A=+—H 1,192,307,692 11,923

(ii)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

The Company issued 192,307,692 shares on 5
May 2022 to the shareholders of DongYiQuan
Network Technology Co., Ltd as the purchase
consideration for 30% of its ordinary share
capital. The ordinary shares issued have the
same rights as the other shares in issue. The fair
value of the shares issued at the date of
acquisition amounted to HK$10,000,000
(HK$0.052 per share based on the published
share price on 5 May 2022), of which
HK$1,923,000 and HK$8,077,000 have been
credited to share capital and share premium,
respectively.
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() EBBEFEAFEEDRTE
ERAORE  XBEERAR
ARE LRERBOHE—F
EARBBRTNEELE  FI
BEBRZERRFHA

(i) ARARZZE-__FHAR
H M DongYiQuan Network
Technology Co., Ltd & % 58 2%
17192,307,692 % & 7 ' 1E&
H30% EmKRRAmEE K
& o E?‘ﬁ“ﬁiﬁﬁéﬁiﬁi\ﬂﬂﬁ
BT A B HERER -
HQEﬁEE@E?&TTHXTﬁE’J’D\$
{8 /10,000,000 7 7T (AR IR K
ZEZ_FRARHEAMHH
P& B 5 P%0.0528 ) -
1,923,0007% 7T %2 8,077,000 &
7T B9 BIEF AR R R D %
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24. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)
24.3 Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount
of the excess of the nominal value of shares of Amuse
International Investment Ltd. over the nominal value
of shares of the Company exchanged, and the excess
of the nominal value of shares of Amuse International
Investment Ltd. over the nominal values of shares of
Bestone Creative Development Limited, Sentinel
International Co. Limited, Lai Ga Toys Co. Limited, D4
Toys Co., Limited and Moon One Toys Co., Limited
exchanged as part of the Group’s reorganisation in
prior years.

24.4 Dividends

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.

24.5 Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders, by pricing services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholders returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions
affecting the Group.

During the year, the Group's strategy in monitoring
its capital structure, which was unchanged from
2023, was to maintain a sufficient cash level to meet
its liquidity requirements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

24. EXR#E®)
243 SOt E

AOHRBEMERBEBRIRE R R A A
BHOEEBEARRERBRME
EWDA§ﬁ MERERIEES

ARABRMEEBLRREIZEEE
ﬁ@@ﬂ‘?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬂ‘
BEITEBRAF - D4 Toys Co.,
Limited X B —ItEBR A MEAE
FAEEEA—FHERIBBRME
EMZ=H -

204 R B2

XY TERKNEE_T_MF
A—T_=F=-A=1t—HLFE
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245 EXEE

AEBEREANTIE BT RER

AEBFBLENREN  RIEAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

25. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

25. RfB R ARIRE

The Company
KA F]

2024 2023

—EomFE O —FE_=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Unlisted shares, at cost JELTIRE - BKAGEHE 933 933
Less: Impairment losses B OREEE (434) (434)
499 499
The following list contains the particulars of the principal TRENETEZEXRE BEHEED

subsidiaries which affected the results, assets or liabilities of
the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

AEENEIZMBRAFE KRB

BN

Proportion of ownership interest

P D BB Rl B AR

FRERELA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issued and paid Group's effective
Name of company and business  up capital interest Held by the Company Held by a subsidiary Principal activity
BRTR
nAER EXBY ARREFE FEENERER RSN HWBARRE  IEER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE-NE -T--F ZBCNE -T--F ZBONE -Eo=F
Amuse International Investment ~ British Virgin -~~~ US$20,000 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited [slands

ARERRAARAR RBRBRES 20,000%T RERK

Amuse Luck Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding

AFERAR B 187 RARK

Bestone Creative Development Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Design and sale of toys

Limited and related products

BREEERERARA & 1000077 FARHETAR
HBER

Sentinel International Co. Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$12,000 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Design and sale of toys
and related products

TERERBRAA & 12,0007 Tt REERAR
HEER

Lai Ga Toys Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Design and sale of toys
and related products

BETARRAA Eh 10,0007 FARHETAR
HEER
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25. ABRARMNKRE #)

(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BEERELA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issued and paid Group's effective
Name of company and business  up capital interest Held by the Company Held by a subsidiary  Principal activity
BEIR
ARER EXuH ARREFE rEENERER HALARA HNEAAKE  IERE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRCQRE -RocH SR “To-F CRCRE R
Flame Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Design and sale of toys
and related products
RigmABRAT & 10,0007 it REETAR
HEER
D4 Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of
toys
& 10,0007 HEREHTA
Moon One Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of
toys
A-TEBRAA R 10,000%7 HEREHETA
Amuse Development Ltd. British Virgin -~ US$50,000 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Islands
ARERERAR ZBERRES S0,000%T RELEK
Forever Profits Development Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of agency
services
ERERARLA Bk 1000077 RERERS
Kai Investment Co., Ltd Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Inactive
ERREFRAR % 1000077 TER
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the
MPF Scheme, the Group is required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000
per employee. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately. The total expense recognised in profit or loss
of approximately HK$403,000 (2023: HK$413,000)
represents contributions payable to these schemes by the
Group from continuing operations in respect of the current
accounting period at rates specified in the rules of the
plans. At the end of the reporting period, there are no
forfeited contributions.

LSP Liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to LSP in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
under certain circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons other than
serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at
the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of
fixed term and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP
payable is determined with reference to the employee’s
final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and years of services,
reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s contributions to MPF scheme, with an
overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the
Group does not have any separate funding arrangement in
place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazette the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right
of an employer to reduce it LSP payable to a Hong Kong
employee by drawing on its mandatory contribution to the
MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into effect from
the Transition Date. Separately, the Government is also
expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers
after the abolition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (CONTINUED)

LSP Liabilities (Continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any
of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made
before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in
respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date.
However, where an employee’s employment commenced
before the Transition Date, the employer can continue to
use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect
of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date will
be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition as disclosed in note 2.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance
primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
Hong Kong employees.

The present value of unfunded obligations and its
movements are as 31 March 2024 and 2023 of
HK$748,000 and HK$612,000 respectively.

The weighted average service year ranged from 2 to 9
years.

TATE
e R

“HE=A=t—HLFE

26. RAEBEFFE (2

RERBEEE @)

E¢ —BEUEE PR ER  BER
BEAPER I SERELRMERES
HR(ERNEEAHPZA - BERA %
T 2 30 B EE A 2 (R fa] R 5t #E 25 R

PERBRERBFRZERRBE - A
- HESEXBERRASHEXE -
AlfE X R AR A Lt REH IR DB
ERFEERANEERFFHZIRIR
BE B RBIK B HI AT B AR 7% F B
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ZAFRBEBRERAR RGFHAE -

INE PRI EE - AR E D BRI
NEBERETERE

AEBERTEINGRAEIEREASE
HEERENERIRBEEL
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
bills receivables, other receivables, bank deposits and cash,
listed equity investments, contingent consideration
receivable, trade and other payables, amount due to a joint
venture, bank loan and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how the Group mitigates risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures

27.

MEEEEER ATV EFE

AEENETECRITABEEHRIER
EREWRE  EMEEE  RITF
REEREE  ETRARE BREIAR
B -BEHRHEMENKE BN—HE
BERAIRE RITERLBEERE - %
FOMTAFBRERMMERE - 2%
F &R T ELAA R A R R N AN 5% B 40 ] OB
ERROBRENTX EEEEER
ERRTRBRUARRESENEREE

to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a i
timely and effective manner.
27.1 Categories of financial assets and 27N ERIEEREEER
liabilities
2024 2023
—ECNE TR =4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEAATREN S REE
Trade and bills receivables E 5 eI GRIE R BN E R 21,892 13,296
Other receivables* A & W SR IE * 1,843 12,424
Bank deposits and cash WITFERRRE 102,696 133,555
126,431 159,275
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEFABEZZEREE
— Listed equity investments — ETRAKRE
— Hong Kong —&E 1,907 3,358
— Contingent consideration receivable — &Y sk SA K (B 2,100 4,300
4,007 7,658
130,438 166,933
Financial liabilities cMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ H# HH AT R SR A E
Trade and other payables Z 5 R H A FET IR 12,812 22,448
Amount due to a joint venture B —HEERFNIE - 3
Bank loan RITER 3,075 3,187
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,835 7,625
19,722 33,263

* Prepayment and trade deposits are excluded
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27. BEBREER ATVETE @)
272 B R

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)
27.2 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 71%
(2023: 23%) and 77% (2023: 33%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 0 to 60
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group'’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

EERRESFHEREANER
EYAREAZ P EEROAR -
AEENEERRERRAEESE
Wk

BEZEKSE
AEBZEERBRFEXZSRFHE
PN E  MIEXBPEEFRN
ETENBEKRATE - Bt - EX
SR EERREZRE A KB E
BIRFEAEEERNRR - RNksH
R BHERFEBELERT71% (=
T - =F:23% ) N77% (= F
Z=F:3B3%) DA REAKEE R
ABEERAKREFE -

B EEkERAE T EESRE
MR P ETEANEETM - 2551
HEEHERFBADBAFMR
SN B RINREE S E RS
AR ERPABREREXBIEZ
KERIRMAR - B S RIWRIEA
REZAHBAF0E0H AL »
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Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade

“HE=ZA=t—HLFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)
27.2 Credit risk (Continued)

272 5B/ (&)

EZEWFE (&)
TRV AKENR T _OFER—
E_=—F=-A=+t—HNHEERR

27. BEREER ATVETE ®)

receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 2023: RESRWHFIEEHREEEFERENE
o
Gross
RZT-WE Expected carrying Individually Loss Total
As at 31 March 2024 =A=+—-H loss rate amount  impaired allowance allowance
AYEEE KRHAE @REE HBEEE mRE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% THER THER THER THER
Sales of products HEEM
— Current (not past due) — ANER (ma ) 0% 6,205 = = =
— 1-30 days past due —AH1=30R 0% 1,841 - - -
— 31-60 days past due —#H31%E60H 0% 8,394 - - -
— 61-90 days past due — #1861 £90H 0% 2,837 - - -
— More than 90 days — B HEBE0 R
past due 67% 3 (2) - (2)
Agency services RERE
— Current (not past due) — BIHR (fEmE) 0.1% 2,617 - (3) (3)
21,897 (2) (3) (5)
Gross
i ——— Expected carrying  Individually Loss Total
As at 31 March 2023 =A=+—H loss rate amount impaired  allowance  allowance
HHEEX REAE (ARRE HERE R
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHET FET FET FHT
Sales of products HEER
— Current (not past due) — BNHER (s HR) 0% 3,751 = = =
— 1-30 days past due —@H1E30H 0% 1,216 - - -
— 31-60 days past due —@H31%E60H 0% 691 - - -
— 61-90 days past due —AH61E90H 0% 153 = = =
— More than 90 days — B HI#EB0
past due 100% 2 (2) - (2)
Agency services K22 BR 75
— Current (not past due) — AN (ma ) 1.1% 7,565 - (80) (80)
13,378 (2) (80) (82)

142 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024



27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)
27.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Expected loss rates on sales of products are based on
actual loss experience over the past 3 years. These
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which
the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include bills
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank
balances and cash. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management of the Group would make
periodic collective and individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records and past experience
and current external information and adjusted to
reflect probability-weighted forward-looking
information, including the default rate where the
relevant debtors operates. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.

mE M BRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

27. BEBREERAFESE @)
2712 ERMK (&)

EZEWFE (&)
KEHEEMmNBERBBREXRIER
BEZFNERBRER - ZFH
REERE  URBRIKREBERE
HREEER BATEREREE
BRSBTS FHALERBRY
BB ER -

Hy 2B A SR8 = B &
E

Hib iR ATIRNEREESR
EREERE  HtEWRHRARES
MRTHEBERS - RBEERR
BREREK AEEEEESRESE
FERENRERAEERNARIREIN
BRE K EL A R MR IR S iR & WO AT
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)
27.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

ECL on other receivables and deposit (excluding
prepayments and trade deposits) are assessed
individually and measured as either 12-month ECL or
lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group considers the probability of
default upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout the reporting period.

The movements in the gross amount of other
receivables and deposit (excluding prepayments and
trade deposits) are as follows:

27. BIEEBREERAFESE #)
2712 ERMK (&)

E 17 8 55 5L 7K 51 fR 19 2 it
E(#)
HhERRIAENREES (R EEN
RERESZRS) MEHREEEBE
THERIFEE R 12E AEHEE
BiER2HBHEEEEETE R
TEERR B VHRERARE T
ERINME - NEBEBENIEA
TR E BEOMA R - il
FEAREHHEERBRESTSH
IEREEIEA -

HiEWHIBAB LIRS (T
BNREEZES) WESHMT :

Stage 1

Rl =

HK$°000

FHET

At 1 April 2022 RZE——FHA—H 5,242

Net changes on the gross amount BB E) TR 7,339
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 MRZZEZ=F=A=+—AK

—E_=FMmMA—H 12,581

Net changes on the gross amount 48 %E ) ) FRE (10,581)

At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-ME=A=+—H 2,000

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no
transfers (2023: nil) between stages in the ECL
assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 27. KEREERAFEFTE®
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
27.2 Credit risk (Continued) 272 5B/ (&)
Other financial assets at amortised cost H b 12 8 85 5 K D BR 1Y 2
(Continued) BE B
The movements in the ECL allowance of other Hib g RIE Rike (TR EREA
receivables and deposit (excluding prepayments and REBSEe) WEREEBER
trade deposits) are as follows: HEENT :
Stage 1
HMEER
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2022 R-ZT-—FMmMF—H -
ECL allowance recognised during the year FABBNTEREEEERE 157
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—HBK
—E-=FmMA—H 157
ECL allowance recognised during the year FRERANEREEEBRE -
At 31 March 2024 R=Z-NE=A=+—H 157
The credit risks for bills receivables, bank balances R R - SRITEB MR HRITE
and short-term bank deposits are considered FEOEERRESR AT RE
negligible as the counterparties are reputable banks. REFARAGEENRT
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZE =T —NFE=A=+—HIEFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)

27.3 Liquidity risk

27. BEREER ATVETE ®)

273 "B E SR

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group’s liquidity position and compliance with
loan covenants are monitored closely by the
management of the Group. The following table
details the Group’s contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and

principal cash flows.

AEENBRRBENERRPDES
FREETRERENBN - IR
B EHRCHEBREETBHE
RUBAEEEER  UEMNEH

AEBENRBE SN M E R
BTEAAAEEERER &
R TRANAEERBERRS
RAEENANIHBER - BBIIER
DRESHMAEERMRANRERE
RSB A e BR A KM &F A
HiRs - AR BREMNENAS
MEBARE °

Over
Within one year Carrying
one yearor but within amount at
ondemand  two years Total Discount 31 March
R=A
R-—FR k-7 i Er=1
RERER EMEUR @t BE WEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
2024 g 13
Bank loan subject to repayment i &2 2 k(B
on demand clauses: scheduled & EISRITE N -
repayments (note) HEEH (M) 3,075 - 3,075 = 3,075
Trade payables B S ERNHIE 6,710 1,542 8,252 = 8,252
Other payables and Hh AR RENER
accrued expenses 4,560 - 4,560 - 4,560
Lease liabilities HEBR 2,665 1,267 3,932 97) 3,835
17,010 2,809 19,819 97) 19,722
2023 —T-o=F
Bank loan subject to repayment i A2 2 k(B8
on demand clauses: scheduled &3 EISRITER -
repayments (note) AERR () 3,187 - 3,187 = 3,187
Trade payables B S ENFIE 17,150 = 17,150 = 17,150
Amount due to a joint venture [ —FIA E R RIZE 3 = 3 = 3
Other payables and Hfth R HRIR R B R
accrued expenses 5,298 - 5,298 - 5,298
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,937 3,975 7,912 (287) 7,625
29,575 3,975 33,550 (287) 33,263
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)

TATEMENTS *
e MG HRRM

“HE=A=t—HLFE

27. BEBREER ATVETE @)

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
loan, bank balances and lease liabilities. Lease
liabilities bearing fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. Borrowings issued and bank
balances are at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the
level of its variable rate borrowings and manages the
contractual terms of the interest-bearing financial
liabilities. The Group’s interest rate profile of the
interest bearing financial liabilities as monitored by
management is set out below.

27.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 273 REBES A (4)

Note: Bank loan with a repayment on demand clause are included B 5 M‘T%&ETE1&1'%?&5@%&??%%%7\
in the “Within 1 year or on demand” time band in the above FRBBMBESTH R —FARIRE
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate Sk K Fﬁ cHRZZT=ZMWMF=A
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loan =+—H ZERITERARBER
amounted to HK$3,075,000 (2023 HK$3,187,000). Taking % % 53,075,000 T (2= =
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do 3,187,000 L) c KERAE
not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise WA - BEERAIRITTAARE
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. TEERBRAERIEER - EF
The directors believe that such bank loan will be repaid in RE - ZERITEREREE R BHE
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in FEnEEERBHER  ARFS
the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table BRI :
below:

Maturity analysis — Bank loan with a repayment on REZBTEZNWEHAST — K%
demand clause based on scheduled repayments BRERE B IR BB 1TE
More than More than
Within one one year two years Total
year or but within but within More than  undiscounted
on demand two years five years five years amount Amount
R—FRAR —Fpt MENLE
RER EWEUR  EBREFHUR BENE  KREREE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiHT T T T THT
31 March 2024 —Eo@mE
=A=+-8 295 295 1,476 2,677 4,743 3,075
31 March 2023 —E-=F
ER=—FE 248 248 744 2,955 4,195 3,187
27.4 Interest rate risk 27.4 MR ER
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future MEEBRASEBRTANAFEIK

Xﬁﬁmu%ﬂ#.ﬁiiﬁfu1 @Jﬁﬁ/&
B Rz o REBOF ERE R FE
RRIRITER - ﬁETTmﬁ%&ﬁEE
& HEEMNERFENHERES
REEAZ A THEMERRE < 28
EERRITESRCAEEARES
MEMERR AEBEREZE
BEKEEREBEFAESHAENS
HMER - REBREEEERMNG
EeMABENEESHNTX -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 27. IEEREERAFENE @
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
27.4 Interest rate risk (Continued) 274 R ERER (&)
Interest rate profile FIFEE
2024 2023
—E-ME —ET-=F
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount  interest rate Amount
BEA=E ©H B = -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Variable rate borrowings: 2 £ & :
Bank loan RITER 5.97% 3,075 3.21% 3,187
Sensitivity analysis HBETHT

At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's profit after taxation
and retained profits by approximately HK$13,000
(2023: HK$13,000). Other components of
consolidated equity would not be affected in response
to a general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised
impact on the Group’s interest expense that would
arise assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the secured bank loan which exposes
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk at that date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2023.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
27.5 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars
("USD"), Euros (“EUR"), Japanese Yen (“JPY") and
Renminbi (“RMB").

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk
arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure
are shown in HK$, translated using spot rate at the
year end date.

27. EABEERAFENE &)
27.5 NS L B

SNEREBRESRITAMN D FESR
R 2 8 S IR B < B U B RO
Rk - AEEEH 2 EHERER
KERBEEMESZEKHRE &
NRBEMRSEEH  ZFRE IR
SNE (RSB EH 2R
MMz BB fHE-EXEHRR
ZEBEEERIT(ET]) BT
(T&)) - BR(TRED RARE
TAR¥]) -

REZEMER
TRFAVNAREERREHRABRE
BB NGB EBHEZ
EHREEXABEMEE ZEER
B BHRRAEZERNIRFE
RERCRBRERBEREIT - A
(GEXT P
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
27.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

27. BEREER ATVETE ®)

27.5 N EERBR ()
REZEXRE (&)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HK$)

AZWHERE (UEBTE5)
2024
—E-mE
usbD EUR JPY RMB
E B A AR¥
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEx FTERx TER
Trade and other receivables & 5 K H & Us 7178 16,733 31 1,852 1
Cash and cash equivalents R& RIREEEY 34,752 32,682 500 6,652
Trade and other payables & 5 K E Al & 708 (8,495) = (1,305) (24)
Net exposure arising ERREERARE
from recognised assets PATEE & 2 [2\ B 58
and liabilities 42,990 32,713 1,047 6,639

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HK$)

AR R INER e (AET251)

2023
“E-=F

usb EUR JPY RMB

S BT = AR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEL FHET THET THET

Trade and other receivables & 5 K € Ug 7178 4,710 36 60 127

Cash and cash equivalents R& RIS EEY 63,133 111 10,740 6,782

Trade and other payables & 5 K E A & 708 (4,804) = (6,699) (24)

Net exposure arising ERREERARE

from recognised assets PATEE & 2 [B\ B 58

and liabilities 63,039 147 4,101 6,885
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
27.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) and other components of consolidated equity
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming
all other risk variables remained constant. As the HK$

CIA
ma JH%#IH%MT‘I

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

27. BEBREERAFESE @)
27.5 ShEE R (&)

HBETH
TRINTAEEN RS REHE
j(ﬂ e 2 [E RN % B IR Z
BEEHAKERB &R (KR
%%%U)%ﬂﬁ’r@f‘?é\%ﬁé* DR
2 BNEs 28y (AR AT A H R AT
BPREEFIE) ANETHE
ELHE - AEBEHET BT

is pegged to the USD, the Group does not expect any EXTelFERERE
significant movements in the USD/HK$ exchange rate.
2024 2023
—B-NEF —BE-=F
Effect on Effect on
Appreciation profit after Appreciation  profit after
of foreign tax and of foreign tax and
currency retained currency retained
rate profits rate profits
HERBEZ HEBIZ
s A R R a8 AN R AR
EXAE BN EXAE BNHNTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
EUR BXTT 5% 1,366 5% 6
JPY H & 5% a4 5% 171
RMB AR 5% 277 5% 287
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &= ==

“HE=ZA=t—HLFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)

27.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated to the HK$ at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2023.

27.6 Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in listed equity securities. The Group's
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$159,000
(2023: HK$280,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of equity securities listed in Hong Kong.
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27. BIEEBREERAFESE #)
27.5 ShEE R (&)

BB E 57 (48)

ERBIZHOMERBE T SEE
BEEUABINGEEETEZBRTE
mAREE R E  FEpE
N ERRERBERBETERH

BRERESWMHBREXZFHE AR
BN EARERBEEAEERR
HEHRAZIINERBZSHT
B -BURIMZE_ZE_=F 2R
T o

27.6 REREKE

AEBHRNKE EMRAZFME
HERERR  AREZRERRE
BETFREBEBEXZMERAE
HREZRALE - EREFBER
TRERE BRI ERAS E UL
e

MEED T
AT BE 2 AT TR IR 3R 4 B 83|
RERRETE °

=R TABR LA T 10%
—E-=F:10%)  AIEB LW
BAZFLZAVEEDERBE_F
“HE=A=+—HILFEERTR
S5 M) #6542 0,38 > 49 159,000 7T (=
T _ =4 : 280,000/ 7T) °



For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE =T —NF=A=+—HIEFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)
27.7 Fair value measurement

The following table presents financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with the
fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial
assets and liabilities into three levels based on the
observability and significance of inputs to the fair
value measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices), and not using significant
unobservable inputs.

Level 3:  significant unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability (significant unobservable
inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety
is based on the lowest level of input that is significant
to the fair value measurement.

7. BEEREER AFENE ®)

27.7 AV EFE
TRENEBEATEBENGEAH
BRRKRIZAFEAENSREE
FaE -cemEENEBERER=E
NEEFRBABBENTRRLE
ERERRAISE=R - ATERE
RBFEUT SR :

E—: HABERAGENER
TS HIRIE CRIGHAR) -

F_H: REEXABMEER
(BB k% (A A E
RIS H) ATBER A8 A B
BRE-RABENRE
BRI - RREHRBEX
TRBREARE -

F=H: BEXBBEREATAH
ZRABR(EATAE
SBABE) °

SRAENAEBBABSAND
FEERNERHAFESBAAS
ERFROREEREABE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &= =&

“HE=ZA=t—HLFE

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)
27.7 Fair value measurement (Continued)

27. BIEEBREERAFESE #)
27.7 AR EFE (&)

The financial assets measured at fair value in the RERE M IEARR R P AT ELE
consolidated statement of financial position on a EBERAVTEFENEHEERART
recurring basis are grouped into the fair value BERAT :
hierarchy as follows:
2024
—E-MF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& ER BE=H @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FEx FTET FERT FET
Financial assets at FVTPL & A F{EF ABZE
ZEMEE
— Listed equity investments — M ANIEE
— Hong Kong — &8 1,907 - - 1,907
— Contingent consideration — FEU Sk AR (B
receivable - - 2,100 2,100
1,907 - 2,100 4,007
2023
—E-=F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE— E Sl 11} FE= st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET FHT
Financial assets at FVTPL &2 F{ET AES
ZEMEE
— Listed equity investments — MR ANIE &
— Hong Kong —&B 3,358 - - 3,358
— Contingent consideration — J& W =k A &
receivable - - 4,300 4,300
3,358 - 4,300 7,658
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 = =%

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
27.7 Fair value measurement (Continued)

The contingent consideration receivable of the Group
was revalued at 31 March 2024 and 2023 by Ravia,
an independent qualified professional valuer, who has
appropriate qualifications and relevant experience.
The Group’s management has discussion with the
valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results.

27. BEBREER ATVETE @)

27.7 AV EFTE (&)
AEE ERKARBR-_Z M
ER-E-=4#=A=+—Hak
BEEEERRABERIBIAE
BEEhEMELETER A%
laﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬂ
A B

FE=RAFHETEBHER

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements
31 March 2024 —E-_E=A=+—H

Favourable/
(unfavourable)

Significant changes

Description Valuation technique unobservable input Range of input in profit or loss

ERTAEE BROERN

it fHES % WA BWAEEE (FF) 25

HK$'000

T

Contingent Discounted cash flows Discounted rate of +0.5% (74)

consideration 19.55% -0.5% 74
receivable

JEW S ARAEB MRRERE BE IR % 19.55% +0.5% (74)

-0.5% 74

31 March 2023 —E-_=H5=8A=+-—H

Favourable/
(unfavourable)

Significant changes
Description Valuation technique unobservable input Range of input in profit or loss
EXTABE BENER
it fRER % LTPN ¢ WARBEE (FR) 25
HK$'000
TET
Contingent Discounted cash flows Discounted rate of +0.5% (15)
consideration 18.68% -0.5% 15
receivable
M ARAME MERERE BE IR % 18.68% +0.5% (15)
-0.5% 15
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no HE-_ZT-_NF=A=1+—HIF
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers E B REF_RoMATESE
into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). B ﬂ'ﬁ@})\iﬁiﬁ}ﬁ% F(=ZE

=E |-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. BB AMNEARS
TRANSACTION
(a) Key management personnel () FEEBEAEHM
remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REBEBXTZEBEABNEM (B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s M8 BR N TARAIESEN
directors as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: SR HIMAT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term employee benefits EHEESEH 8,694 8,958
Post-employment benefits BEER 1248 A 100 106
8,794 9,064
(b) Balance with related parties (b) E2RFEE T HY4L R
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT T
Amount due to a joint venture (note) B —RA& & AR FIE (Mist) - 3
Note: The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on Mk ZEEARAEER £EAERKREKX
demand. B

1 56 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2024



For the year ended 31 March 202

29. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

29. X 7] & T B B 5IR L R

TATE
e R

EE_WE=A=+—HILFE

A
FINANCIAL POSITION
2024 2023
—EDWE T =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A RRIRE 25 499 499
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NE E ] 51,513 51,612
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBELFEY 49 50
51,562 51,662
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS BT B 2 R 3R 1B 5,624 5,624
Other payables and accrued H M E S FRIA R ERT RIS
expenses 100 100
5,724 5,724
Net current assets REBEEFE 45,838 45,938
Net assets BEEFE 46,337 46,437
Capital and reserves EXRE#EE
Share capital [ 242 11,923 11,923
Share premium & (7% B 24.1 75,068 75,068
Merger reserve & PR 24.1 155 155
Accumulated loss REHEE 24.1 (40,809) (40,709)
Total equity RS 46,337 46,437

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 27 June 2024.

LI Wai Keung

e

Director

EF

BEERN T _NENA-+HERHUE

TS -
TO Hoi Pan
PSP
Director
-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 HEZ - —WF=A=+—HI-FE

30. IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE 30. EEB AR RBRERS

CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the directors consider the R-E_NFER T -_=F=A=1+—
Company's immediate parent and ultimate controlling party H ZE=ZREBAAFANEENARRE
to be Infinite Force Holdings Limited, a limited company 4 4 B 75 9 Bl A Infinite Force Holdings
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Mr. Li Wai Limited (58 25 &8 4 B m A% & s il Ak 32 &Y
Keung, respectively. Infinite Force Holdings Limited does BRAR]) RFE®RSEAE < Infinite Force
not produce financial statements for public use. Holdings Limited 3 £ 47 24 Bf 7% SR 3= (E A

FAZ -
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Percentage interest Floor Area Usage as at
No.  Property of the Group (sq.ft) 31 March 2023
R-BZ=F
BEEE =A=1+-H
ma W rEBLEEEZED R (FRR) zRg
2024 2023
“BIQNE —To=F
1. Flat C on 59th Floor of Tower 2 &% 100% 100% 744 Director's quarter
The Dynasty HREE EESEh
No. 18 Yeung Uk Road BEB185%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories ik
Hong Kong 2ESECE
2. Workshop No. 1 on 14/F B8 100% 100% 1,759 Warehouse
Wang Lung Industrial Building ¥ =5 EESEh
No. 11 Lung Tak Street BEEA115%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories RREIEXNE
Hong Kong 14121578

—womEsR EhsEzpagEan 159



BSHE

A Summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years extracted from the audited

financial statements, is as follows:

AEERBERAYBRFENREAREE
REE (R aRERVBER)MEBOT

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-NE —T-=F —FT--F —T-—F —E-FTE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FAT
Revenue g 219,190 235,963 216,485 211,467 206,965
Cost of sales $HEE R AR (181,352)  (190,227)  (181,612)  (173,503)  (164,783)
Gross profit EF 37,838 45,736 34,873 37,964 42,182
Operating expenses RERY (36,308) (38,113) (31,756) (25,593) (30,858)
Profit before tax BRE A F 1,530 7,623 3,117 12,371 11,324
Income tax expenses s BFAX (1,044) (1,861) (1,636) (3,694) (3,874)
Profit for the year FREF 486 5,762 1,481 8,677 7,450
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (in cents)  EZN K #5& (LAILEH) 0.04 0.49 0.15 0.87 0.75
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets FERBEE 43,845 57,049 17,280 56,196 27,627
Current assets RBEE 178,036 199,793 207,666 165,174 177,331
Current liabilities RBEE 25,225 56,618 44,333 41,363 31,223
Total assets less current BEERABEE
liabilities 196,656 200,224 180,613 180,007 173,735
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 56 4,110 261 1,136 3,541
Net assets EEFE 196,600 196,114 180,352 178,871 170,194
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital PieN 11,923 11,923 10,000 10,000 10,000
Reserves B 184,677 184,191 170,352 168,871 160,194
Total equity R 196,600 196,114 180,352 178,871 170,194
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